# Ethics in embryo research: a position statement by the ASRM Ethics in Embryo Research Task Force and the ASRM Ethics Committee

Ethics in Embryo Research Task Force and Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine

American Society for Reproductive Medicine, Birmingham, Alabama

Scientific research using human embryos advances human health and offspring well-being and provides vital insights into the mechanisms for reproduction and disease. Research involving human embryos is ethically acceptable if it is likely to provide significant new knowledge that may benefit human health, well-being of the offspring, or reproduction. (Fertil Steril<sup>®</sup> 2020;113:270–94. ©2019 by American Society for Reproductive Medicine.)

**Discuss:** You can discuss this article with its authors and other readers at https://www.fertstertdialog.com/users/16110-fertility-and-sterility/posts/54413-29096

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Statement of purpose and recommendations	271
I. First considerations: the status of the embryo in the research setting	273
II. Ethical considerations in embryo research	
III. The current legal landscape surrounding embryo research in the united states.	275
a. Federal Law on Research Activities Involving Human Embryos	275
b. Federal Law on Funding of Research Activities Involving Human Embryos	275
c. Summary of State Laws on Research Activities Involving Human Embryos	276
d. A Summary of State Law on Funding of Research Activities Involving Human Embryos	276
IV. Considerations for conducting research using embryos	277
a. Justification for Research Using Human Embryos	277
b. Alternatives to Research Using Human Embryos	
V. Ethical considerations in germline gene editing	279
VI. Approaches to oversight: mechanisms for approval, review, consent and reporting in embryo research	281
a. Oversight Mechanisms	281
b. Application of the Common Rule to Consent for Embryo Research	281
VII. Sources of embryos for research and the role of human subjects: compensation, consent and confidentiality in	
embryo research	282
a. The Question of Compensation for Embryo Donation	
b. Informed Consent and Confidentiality in Embryo Research	283

Received October 4, 2019; accepted October 4, 2019.

Correspondence: Ethics Committee, American Society for Reproductive Medicine, 1209 Montgomery Highway, Birmingham, Alabama 35216 (E-mail: asrm@ asrm.org).

Fertility and Sterility® Vol. 113, No. 2, February 2020 0015-0282/\$36.00 Copyright ©2019 American Society for Reproductive Medicine, Published by Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.10.012

VIII. The role of public perception in decisions surrounding embryo research	284
IX. Conclusions	284
Acknowledgments	
References	
Appendix A	
Appendix B	
Appendix C	292

# STATEMENT OF PURPOSE AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM, "the Society") is a multidisciplinary organization dedicated to the advancement of the science and practice of reproductive medicine. The Society pursues its mission through the support of education, advocacy, and research that advances the wellbeing of all reproductive medicine stakeholders, including patients, health care providers, researchers, and the public. As part of its most recent strategic plan, ASRM highlighted the need to "spearhead the agenda for research in reproduction and the development of both the current and future generations of clinical investigators in the reproductive sciences" (1, 2). In an effort to operationalize this goal, the ASRM Research Institute was founded with a mission to guide and support research in the field of reproductive medicine. Cognizant that research in reproductive medicine can involve human embryos, in 2017 the ASRM Board of Directors established the Ethics in Embryo Research Task Force (the "Task Force") to consider, debate, and ultimately draft the present position statement addressing ethical considerations in embryo research. The Task Force's efforts were to include ongoing consultation with the ASRM Ethics Committee (the "Ethics Committee"), a multidisciplinary group established over 30 years ago to provide guidance on ethical issues arising in the field of reproductive medicine. This position statement is a product of the collaboration between the Task Force and the Ethics Committee.

The Task Force is composed of clinicians, researchers, embryologists, medical students, ethicists, and legal experts who gathered beginning in January 2018 via a series of conference calls and email discussions to formulate the structure and substance of its consensus position. While this position statement represents a consensus view of the Task Force, Ethics Committee, and ASRM Board of Directors, the Society acknowledges that it may not be in accord with the views, perspectives and practices maintained by each member of ASRM. Diversity of viewpoint and respect for differing sensibilities are highly respected values at ASRM. As such, the Society encourages its members and members of the public to add their voices to the public discourse on ethics in embryo research in order to enhance the debate over this vital topic of potentially enormous societal impact. This position statement is not an ethical rule adopted by the Ethics Committee and is not part of the organization's code of conduct. It does, however, represent the considered judgment of a number of professionals in reproductive medicine. The Task Force believes that this discussion will be useful to all stakeholders

in reproductive medicine as they make individual judgments in this area.

What follows is a discussion of the ethical, legal, historic, and clinical underpinnings of conducting research involving human embryos. The Task Force believes that each of these threads contribute important elements to the overall approach adopted in this position statement. In formulating its approach, the Task Force aspired to provide reasoned analysis and concrete guidance that advances the science and practice of reproductive medicine. As a result of its collaborative efforts, the Task Force makes the following statements:

- Scientific research using human embryos advances human health and offspring well-being, and provides vital insights into the mechanisms for reproduction and disease.
- Many important scientific questions regarding human reproduction, development, fertility and regenerative medicine can only be answered by research involving human embryos.
- Embryo research, with either existing embryos or those produced specifically for research purposes, is ethically acceptable as a means of obtaining new knowledge that may benefit human health, offspring well-being, or reproduction provided certain guidelines and safeguards are followed.
- As with all research using scarce resources, the number of embryos produced or utilized in the research should not exceed the amount needed to answer the research question.
- In order to establish parameters for investigating questions of human development, reproduction, and fertility, it is critical that scientists and society at large work to obtain an understanding of which research questions might best be answered by studying embryos and which can be investigated through other means.
- Embryo research with reproductive intent is research that is conducted with the goal of transfer into the uterus, pregnancy and childbirth, and should only be undertaken after pre-clinical research demonstrates acceptable levels of safety and efficacy. Embryo research with the intent of achieving a viable pregnancy should only be undertaken with the intent of improving health or well-being of the offspring or allowing for reproduction when no other reasonable or feasible alternatives exist or the innovation offers a significant advantage over existing alternatives. Any such research should occur under the auspices of an IRB and include a procedure for reporting on the health and well-being of first-generation offspring, as well as delineate a mechanism for continued follow up over multiple generations.

- Research involving germline gene-editing technologies raises unique issues, given that alterations introduced into the germline may persist for generations. This contrasts with preimplantation genetic testing and other forms of embryo research in which no genetic manipulation is undertaken. Benefits of germline gene-editing technologies include the possibility that the techniques may increase the efficiency of in vitro fertilization such that more embryos are available for reproductive purposes. Research into germline gene editing should establish safety and efficacy before these technologies are used for reproductive purposes.
- Under no circumstances should embryos be used in research without the prior written informed consent of the gamete providers. Consent may be obtained either prior to or after the provision of gametes. Embryos initially produced with reproductive intent using donor gametes may be donated for research so long as express written consent was given by the gamete providers or the individual(s) to whom the gamete providers gave dispositional and decisional control.
- Donors providing their gametes for the purpose of producing embryos for research are entitled to be fully informed about the potential risks and benefits associated with their donation, including those associated with gamete procurement.
- At the time of embryo donation to research not intended to result in reproduction, the donors (or those individuals granted dispositional control by the donors) formation may provide broad consent for research using these embryos, but should be given as much information about the proposed research as is available. This includes consent for the development of stem cell lines and for research that has not yet been identified or conceptualized at the time of the donation. Embryo donors should be aware that stem cell lines derived from their embryos may be stored indefinitely and used for multiple research projects and be shared among more than one investigator. Consent for research at an earlier time, including at the time embryos are produced or subsequently when a decision to donate supernumerary embryos is made, is sufficient.
- If research has reproductive intent, explicit written informed consent from the gamete or embryo donors must be obtained and broad consent is insufficient. Embryos initially produced for personal (non-research) reproductive purposes using donor gametes may be donated for research with reproductive intent so long as the gamete providers either provided express written consent for such use or delegated all decisions regarding research, including research with reproductive intent, to the intended parent(s). Researchers should seek contemporaneous consent from those with dispositional authority over embryos when research has reproductive intent.
- It is the considered judgment of the Task Force that individuals donating embryos that were originally produced with reproductive intent should not be paid as an enticement to make their embryos available for scientific investigation. In so doing, the Task Force acknowledges that individuals may reach different conclusions on this subject and that

certain existing research protocols may provide for some form of compensation, including reimbursement for storage fees incurred prior to the provision of embryos for research purposes. The Task Force sets forth the reasoning supporting its judgment, but recognizes that individuals will need to make their own respective decisions in this area. The Task Force's aim is to explicate the issues that it believes individuals should consider in making those determinations.

- The formation of human embryos expressly for research purposes is ethically acceptable so long as the proposed research is consistent with the ethical recommendations set out in this position statement. Payment to egg and sperm donors who produce gametes solely for research purposes is ethically acceptable in the same manner as other human subject research participants are compensated for such participation.
- Embryo and gamete donors should be informed that the research performed using embryos and gametes that they donate may not produce results that will directly benefit them. When possible, and if known, the specific research project, the source of funding, the potential commercial value of the research, and anticipated clinical applications should be disclosed to embryo and gamete donors.
- All efforts should be made to protect the confidentiality and privacy of the embryo and gamete donors. However, given the growing ability to match individuals with their genetic samples, donors should be aware that anonymity cannot be absolutely guaranteed into the future. As part of the consent process, donors should be counseled that genetic information gained from research on embryos may affect the donors, their family members, and their offspring.
- Blanket federal regulations that prohibit: 1) research on existing embryos 2) the formation of embryos and/or embryonic stem cell lines for the purpose of research or 3) funding for research involving human embryos, should be replaced by guidelines that allow for ethically undertaken research. Such guidelines should ideally be formed by a consortium of scientists, ethicists, and other stakeholders and should be based on scientific facts free of bias. Mechanisms for the public to weigh in on the creation of these guidelines should be developed. These guidelines should be periodically updated as dictated by advances in scientific understanding.
- Given the complex ethical issues surrounding the study of human embryos, oversight of the research process is essential. ASRM recommends use of the Common Rule/IRB framework for research involving embryos, even when the facility conducting the research falls outside of structures in which the framework is legally required. Oversight in a consistent fashion across all facilities is thus recommended.
- Public education is important to allow for broad engagement regarding acceptable current and future embryo research directions. Mechanisms of disseminating accurate and timely information regarding the state of embryo research should be developed. Ideally, public funding should be made available for such educational programs.

## I. FIRST CONSIDERATIONS: THE STATUS OF THE EMBRYO IN THE RESEARCH SETTING

The need and desirability of scientific research that advances human health, well-being and reproduction is integral to a just society, and increasingly those advances are emerging from research on human embryos. In the four decades since human embryos could be produced and maintained outside the body, the moral and legal status of preimplantation embryos has been debated with an eye toward shaping the conduct of third parties who interact with these developing entities. The need for clarity and consensus grows as scientific inquiry advances, offering tremendous insight into the building blocks of human development and disease. A first priority in shaping the ethical parameters surrounding human embryo research is to clearly set out the methodology and basis for any conclusions or positions adopted that helped shape the Task Force's recommendations.

Language shapes perception. This adage has guided the Task Force in its deliberations and drafting to carefully consider the structure and selection of language used throughout this statement. Striving to employ neutral terms and text whenever possible, the language herein must also be accurate and unambiguous in its plain meaning. At the center of this statement is the pre-implantation human embryo ("human embryo"). As used in this statement, human embryo refers to an embryo at a stage of development beginning with division of the zygote into two cells and ending just prior to implantation into a uterus (3). Such an embryo, at its most advanced state of development, is microscopic and consists of approximately one hundred cells. This definition identifies and narrows the biological entity that is the focus of the Task Force's inquiry, but more discussion is needed to illuminate the human embryo's status as an integral element in medical and scientific research. This inquiry is relational in nature as it invokes consideration of the status of the embryo in relation to the processes and goals of research. Accordingly, this position statement addresses ethical issues raised by medical and scientific research utilizing human embryos.

As a preliminary matter, it is essential to consider the status of the embryo that is used in research. In numerous contexts, the moral, legal, and ethical acceptability of an act or omission is conditioned upon the status of the entity upon which the act or omission is directed. The assignment of status positions to the entity relative to other similar and dissimilar entities permits a contextualized basis for assessing the acceptability of conduct toward that entity. Unquestionably, these precepts apply to medical and scientific research involving human embryos. The Task Force's assessment of the embryo's status borrows from decades of broad-based and thoughtful analysis of this issue. We are grateful to be guided by existing permutations of embryo status as a basis for our further consideration of the ethics of research involving human embryos.

Early framing of the status of preimplantation embryos recognized three distinct positions that could guide moral and legal outcomes. Beginning in the 1970s, national advisory boards and presidential commissions have weighed in on the question of embryo status, joined in the early 1990s by courts adjudicating the disposition of disputed embryos upon divorce (4). In general, a consensus has emerged shaping the debate around the three positions. These three positions include an understanding of the embryo as a human person, as human tissue akin to property, or as an entity that lies somewhere between person and property. This Task Force, and the American Society for Reproductive Medicine, endorses the position of "embryo as potential," wherein the embryo is neither person nor property. The positions can be described as follows:

Embryo as person: This position defines the preimplantation embryo as a human person from the moment of fertilization and posits that it should be accorded the full rights of an existing person. This position asserts that the embryo has an interest in not being harmed and a right to continue its natural course of development. This position deems it morally wrong to discard embryos that have the potential to develop further, and opposes virtually any research involving human embryos. At law, this position would include embryos as persons under prevailing legal regimes, permitting civil and criminal penalties to attach upon violation of the embryo's rights.

Embryo as property: This position defines the preimplantation embryo as a category of human tissue with no independent right to continued existence. This position asserts that the embryo has no protected interests or rights akin to those of a person. Instead, the embryo is regarded as a type of property and subject to human manipulation normally permitted on other human tissue. Moral and legal principles require a certain duty of care toward living tissue but would not prohibit its discard or any research conducted according to standards governing ethics in the research setting.

Embryo as potential: This position defines the preimplantation embryo as occupying an intermediate position between a human person and human tissue. Accordingly, it is entitled to special consideration because of its potential to become a person and its symbolic meaning in the landscape of human development. The moral and legal parameters surrounding the concept of special consideration are less well-defined than in the person/property designation, and thus require principled guidance to avoid ad hoc decision-making in the research arena. Using embryos in a research setting in which the gamete providers or those with authority over the embryos' disposition have accorded their full informed consent, embryo research is ethically acceptable as a means of obtaining new knowledge that may benefit human health, well-being, or reproduction Embryos should be handled in a respectful manner in accordance with the requirement for special consideration of embryos.

Underlying each of the above positions is the biological fact that an unimplanted embryo is a genetically endowed entity that, depending on other developmental characteristics and decisions that are made, might or might not ultimately result in a pregnancy and a live born child. It is this concept of potentiality that drives the range of viewpoints on the acceptable treatment of embryos in the research setting. The position Embryo as Person regards an embryo's potential to achieve personhood status as having been accomplished at fertilization. As a rights-bearing entity, an embryo would be entitled to the protections of equal status and vulnerability accorded human subjects after birth. While some research might be deemed acceptable, it would be limited by the embryo's inability to give consent and need for protection. Regulations surrounding research on newborn infants might be instructive, though adjustments would be appropriate to accommodate an embryo's extreme level of nascency.

The position Embryo as Property assumes that the embryo's transition from a few undifferentiated cells without consciousness, sentience or the ability to interact with others or its environment cannot be achieved without the will and skill of a trained human agent and the beneficial caprice of nature. Because an embryo has no independent ability to reach the ultimate stage of a rights-bearing person, it cannot be regarded as such a priori. Research that complies with regulatory parameters surrounding manipulation of other living tissue would be permissible, and would include consent from the progenitors, assurances (or lack thereof) of deidentification, representations about the allocation of downstream rights, and other researcher-subject exchanges that typify contemporary laboratory settings.

The intermediate view advanced in position Embryo as Potential regarding embryos as deserving of special consideration deems research as permissive under a balancing approach. If embryos are contributed by fertility patients who no longer desire that they be maintained for their own reproductive purposes or transferred to others, the decision has been made that any potential for further development has been eliminated. Similarly, embryos produced expressly for research have no reproductive destiny. They are produced with the express intent that they will not be used for reproductive purposes. Without reproductive potential, the embryo's potential for benefit shifts to the research arena, where ongoing studies in regenerative medicine, infertility treatment, genetic repair, and other health-improving advances are underway. Using embryos in medical research at the request of the gamete providers can be viewed as an exercise in special consideration because it honors the autonomy of the gamete providers by allowing them to choose to allow an embryo not destined for personhood to contribute to the betterment of human health and offspring well-being.

Importantly, a caveat is warranted to expound upon the distinction between embryos used for research and those desired for reproduction amid a rapidly advancing scientific backdrop. The position Embryo as Potential addresses the scenarios in which embryos are donated or produced for research purposes only, meaning they will be discarded or cryopreserved indefinitely. It is to this end (and concerns about embryo loss) the position is directed. Alternatively, when embryos are produced and subject to research or experimental techniques for the purpose of reproduction, their status is the same as that of all IVF embryos produced with the hope they will yield healthy, live-born offspring. The question of whether it is ethical to initiate reproduction via uterine transfer with embryos arising from novel experimental techniques is discussed herein as a matter separate from the designation of embryo status in the research setting.

This Task Force acknowledges and endorses the position previously advanced by the ASRM Ethics Committee that the embryo be regarded as worthy of special consideration. In its 2013 Committee Opinion, "Donating Embryos for Human Embryonic Stem Cell (hESC) Research," the Ethics Committee deemed embryo research as ethically acceptable "if it is likely to provide significant new knowledge that may benefit human health and if it is conducted in ways that accord the embryo respect" (5). The concept of special consideration in the research context was further illuminated by the Ethics Committee as a set of requirements that must accompany any research using human embryos. This position statement is intended to update the requirements surrounding embryo research and thus will replace the previous document in proposing an ethical approach to human embryo research.

Importantly, the Task Force concurs with the Ethics Committee that research using human embryos is ethically permissible under certain circumstances. The range of circumstances surrounding research using human embryos grows more complex each day and will require ongoing evaluation. This position statement tackles the set of research and clinical scenarios that the Task Force believes currently require assessment, mindful that goals of comprehensiveness and clairvoyance may prove illusive. It attempts to delineate an ethical framework that can be applied to the evaluation of future embryo research using techniques and approaches that have yet to become available or imagined.

# II. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS IN EMBRYO RESEARCH

This section summarizes the important ethical considerations relevant to embryo research. At the outset, a distinction must be drawn between research that has, and research that does not have, the possibility of resulting in the birth of a child. When research has the potential for the birth of a child, its permissibility rests on the best interests of the future child. As with fetuses or children as human subjects, therapeutic research on embryos is permissible when the benefits of the research outweigh its risks. Non-therapeutic research on embryos, on the other hand, is only permissible when the risks involved are either minimal or a minor increase over minimal risk and the research offers the possibility of generalizable knowledge about the child's condition. This framework for non-therapeutic research involving children is embedded in federal regulations governing research. Non-therapeutic research with reproductive possibility would need to meet this standard for any intervention that may result in the birth of a child.

When research does not have the possibility of resulting in a future child, ethical considerations include respect for the embryo and gamete donors, special consideration of the embryo, social benefit, and justice. The Task Force believes that embryo research not intended for reproduction is ethically justifiable when it has the potential to benefit human health or well-being in the future. As with other research, embryo research must also take considerations of justice into account, such as whether the results have the potential to benefit some social groups and disadvantage others disproportionately.

As outlined above, the Task Force endorses the view that an embryo, because of its potential to become a person, holds symbolic meaning in the landscape of human development. As such, investigators should justify the social importance of embryo research within a context that provides the reasonable possibility that the research will result in clinical benefit. Ideally, embryo research should occur when no satisfactory alternatives exist. The number of embryos produced or utilized in the research should not exceed the amount needed to answer the research question. Embryos should not be treated as commodities.

Patients who participate in the process of producing embryos may have a wide range of views about the status of the embryos that result. They may have strong feelings about the embryos they have participated in forming and they may have ethical views about permissible research that should not be violated. Respect for the donors thus requires that they give informed consent to the possibility that the embryos they donate may be used in research. As embryos embody the potential extension of their progenitors' lineage, utmost fidelity to the prospective donors' prior expressions of intent must be observed as to the use or non-use of embryos in the research setting.

### III. THE CURRENT LEGAL LANDSCAPE SURROUNDING EMBRYO RESEARCH IN THE UNITED STATES

The law surrounding research using human embryos can be roughly divided into two realms. First, federal and state law address (or are silent on) the permissibility of conducting research using human embryos. These regulatory laws permit, restrict or prohibit the formation, manipulation or destruction of embryos in the research setting. Second, legal regimes address the availability of government funding for research using human embryos. In the United States, which operates under principles of federalism, individual states may express their policy preferences by, for example, banning embryo research and its funding even if the federal government permits both activities. What follows is a brief review of U.S. federal and state law regarding embryo research.

#### a. Federal Law on Research Activities Involving Human Embryos

No federal law expressly prohibits research activities involving human embryos; prohibitory regulations may come into play under certain circumstances when embryos are transferred into the body for reproductive purposes. Under current federal regulations, embryos that have been genetically altered cannot be used in clinical application, i.e., transferred into a human subject or patient, unless the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has issued an Investigational New Drug (IND) exemption for the stated purpose. Since 2015, the FDA has been barred from reviewing IND applications that involve germline gene alteration in embryos, thus making any such reproductive usage illegal under federal law (6). Research that does not involve embryo transfer but rather the formation, investigation, or destruction of human embryos conducted in a manner that is unrelated to the provision of federal funding can proceed unfettered by federal law. Thus, private-sector or statefunded embryo research is permissible under federal law so long as the activity does not fall under the reach of regulation governing activities supported by federal funding. As a practical matter, determining whether a private-sector or state-funded embryo research activity has the potential to violate federal laws governing funded research can present challenges.

In 2004, The President's Council on Bioethics (PCB) briefly addressed this issue in their commissioned report on stem cell research. At that time, as today, federal law did not prohibit research using human embryos but did regulate the activity conducted using federal funds. As to non-federally funded research, the PCB clarified that, "researchers remain free to pursue work (including the derivation of new lines of embryonic stem cells) in the private sector, without government funding. Under present law, work supported by private funds can proceed without restriction. Under rules promulgated in the spring of 2002, such work does not need to be conducted in a separate laboratory, but a clear separation of the funds used to support this work from any federally funded work of the laboratory is required. Of course, because of the highly interlocking and complex nature of the various aspects of operating a laboratory, such separation can still prove extremely difficult to manage." (7). Researchers who enjoy the exclusive support of non-federal funding sources, and thus, are not subject to federal regulation specifically aimed at embryo research, are advised to seek guidance and counsel from their funders and supporting institutions as to any ancillary obligations they might have under federal law. While the nature of the embryo research can proceed unfettered, other activities in the research setting might fall under federal regulatory authority. For further information regarding federal regulations of embryo research in the United States, please refer to Appendix A.

#### b. Federal Law on Funding of Research Activities Involving Human Embryos

The legal and political discussions and activities regarding federal funding of human embryo research are longstanding and complex, dating back nearly half a century to the introduction of IVF and invoking the names of a half dozen U.S. presidents whose administrations weighed in on the contested issue. For purposes of this position paper, we briefly set out the current legal regime governing the provision of federal funding for research involving human embryos. A fuller account of the history of U.S. embryonic stem cell funding policy is set out in Appendix A.

The most comprehensive federal law governing federal funding for embryo research is the Dickey-Wicker Amendment, first enacted in 1995. The Dickey-Wicker Amendment is an amendment attached to the appropriations bills for the Departments of Health and Human Services, Labor, and Education each year since 1996; it restricts the use of federal funds for creating, destroying, or knowingly injuring human embryos. It provides in relevant part:

EC. 509. (a) None of the funds made available in this Act may be used for–

(1) the creation of a human embryo or embryos for research purposes; or

(2) research in which a human embryo or embryos are destroyed, discarded, or knowingly subjected to risk of injury or death greater than that allowed for research on fetuses in utero under 45 CFR 46.204(b) and section 498(b) of the Public Health Service Act (42 U.S.C. 289g(b)).

(b) For purposes of this section, the term 'human embryo or embryos' includes any organism, not protected as a human subject under 45 CFR 46 as of the date of the enactment of this Act, that is derived by fertilization, parthenogenesis, cloning, or any other means from one or more human gametes or human diploid cells.

The Dickey-Wicker Amendment remains in place as an enacted obstacle to the funding of certain research activities involving human embryos. In addition to this legislative barrier, federal funding for embryo research is also subject to orders and pronouncements at the executive level. To date, these executive branch activities have touched on at least two types of research involving human embryos - human embryonic stem cell research and germline gene editing of human gametes and embryos. In the stem cell arena, President George W. Bush issued a policy statement in August 2001 limiting the provision of federal funds for human embryonic stem cell to research cell lines in existence as of the date of the statement (8). President Obama revoked that policy with his own executive order issued shortly after he took office in 2009. Under the Obama order, the National Institutes of Health are permitted to support and conduct "human stem cell research, including human embryonic stem cell research, to the extent permitted by law" (9). Detailed guidelines for funding research on stem cells derived from human embryos were issued in July 2009 and remain in effect today (10).

Advances in reproductive medicine involving genome manipulation continue to evolve and hold promise. Federal funding for protocols involving gene editing or germ line alteration in gametes or embryos is currently prohibited. In a 2015 statement, the Director of the National Institutes of Health announced that "NIH will not fund any use of geneediting technologies in human embryos." The Director explained that "[a]dvances in technology have given us an elegant new way of carrying out genome editing, but the strong arguments against engaging in this activity remain. These include the serious and unquantifiable safety issues, ethical issues presented by altering the germline in a way that affects the next generation without their consent, and a current lack of compelling medical applications justifying the use of CRISPR/Cas9 in embryos" (11). In November 2018, the NIH reiterated its opposition to the use of geneediting technologies in human embryos amid claims by a Chinese scientist that he edited the embryos of twin girls to assure their resistance to HIV infection (12). In addition to the generalized funding prohibition issued by the primary federal

funder, a federal law enacted in 2015 prohibits the Food and Drug Administration from reviewing requests for investigational new drugs or biological products that involve "research in which a human embryo is intentionally created or modified to include a heritable genetic modification" (6). Under the law, any submission to the FDA involving genetic modification on an embryo will be deemed to have not been received by the federal agency.

#### c. Summary of State Laws on Research Activities Involving Human Embryos

The absence of a national law on embryo research has inevitably shifted public policy debate over this activity to the socalled "laboratory of the states." With embryo research presumptively lawful under federal law, states are free to enact their own regulatory schemes to permit, restrict, or prohibit such activity within their boundaries. State laws address a variety of research activities involving embryos, including the derivation and use of human embryonic stem cells, experimentation involving embryos and fetuses, the purchase and sale of human tissue for research, the use of somatic cell nuclear transfer, and the parameters surrounding informed consent and institutional review processes for research involving human gametes or embryos. The National Conference of State Legislatures (NCSL) maintains a listing of all state laws governing research involving embryos and fetuses (13). According to NCSL, as of January 2016, there are 8 states whose laws permit research on human embryos (California, Connecticut, Illinois, Iowa, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Jersey, and New York) while 24 states have laws that prohibit some aspect of embryo or fetal research (Arizona, Arkansas, Florida, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Michigan, Minnesota, Montana, Nebraska, New Hampshire, New Mexico, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Virginia, and Wyoming). Restrictions in these latter states vary considerably, making consultation with a qualified expert in the field essential.

#### d. A Summary of State Law on Funding of Research Activities Involving Human Embryos

State activity on the use of public funds for research involving embryos has created opportunity for support in a limited number of jurisdictions. According to the National Conference of State Legislatures, a handful of states (fewer than 10) has taken a position of the use of public funds for embryo research, with several states (Missouri, Maryland, Arizona, Nebraska) either prohibiting or restricting expenditures for embryonic stem cell research. In some cases, public funds may be used for therapeutic research but not for techniques that involve human cloning. The most prominent state funder of embryonic stem cell research is California, based on a ballot measure approved by voters in 2004. Proposition 71 created by the California Institute for Regenerative Medicine which is charged with making "grants and loans for stem cell research, for research facilities and for other vital research opportunities to realize therapies" (14). Other states that fund

aspects of embryonic stem cell research include Connecticut, Maryland, New Jersey, and New York (15) .

### IV. CONSIDERATIONS FOR CONDUCTING RESEARCH USING EMBRYOS

Embryo research can be broadly divided into two categories aligned according to whether it has reproductive intent. Reproductive intent is determined according to the planned disposition of the embryos at the time the research commences and throughout its duration. Research in which the embryos will not be made available for pregnancy and childbirth at any time is research that lacks reproductive intent. Research in which the embryos may be made available for pregnancy and childbirth in the course of the research or any time thereafter is research that has reproductive intent. In research devoid of reproductive intent, embryos are never transferred into the uterus (or if clinically possible in the future, maintained ex-utero until the developing fetus can survive independent of the supporting mechanisms). Examples of such research include the use of CRISPR technology to perform gene editing and study the efficacy and safety of such technology prior to its application in treating genetic diseases in human embryos (16, 17). When research lacking reproductive intent leads to the development of embryonic stem cell lines, these cells may be kept in the laboratory and studied indefinitely. In contrast, research with reproductive intent has pregnancy and live birth as a goal.

Research with reproductive intent necessitates a more exhaustive process to understand the potential for and extent of untoward outcomes prior to attempting to use embryos for reproduction. These outcomes include ones posed to the resulting offspring, and those that may be passed on to future progeny. Embryo research that is conducted with the goal of transfer into the uterus, pregnancy and childbirth should only be undertaken after pre-clinical research demonstrates acceptable levels of safety and efficacy. Embryo research with the intent of achieving a viable pregnancy should only be undertaken with the intent of improving health or wellbeing or allowing for reproduction when no other reasonable or feasible alternatives exist, or the innovation offers significant benefit over existing options. Special attention needs to be given to research that may affect the genetic or somatic make-up of future generations to ascertain that the intended goals of research are met and that unintended sequelae do not occur. Given the nature of reproduction, it must be recognized that such sequelae may not be known for decades or generations. As such, any such research must delineate a procedure for reporting on the health and well-being of both first generation and subsequent offspring, to ensure that any potential negative effects to those born following clinical interventions are identified in a timely manner and not perpetuated indefinitely.

## a. Justification for Research Using Human Embryos

Many important scientific questions regarding human reproduction, development, fertility and regenerative medicine can only be answered by research involving human embryos. While alternatives to research with embryos may be less ethically divisive, such research is not scientifically equivalent and the questions under investigation may not be answerable in the absence of human embryo research. Indeed, demonstrating that alternatives to embryo research are viable often necessitates the use of embryos. Certain branches of research can only be pursued using embryos. In order to establish parameters for investigating questions of human development, reproduction and fertility, it is critical that scientists and society at large work to obtain an understanding of which research questions might be answered by studying embryos and which can be elucidated through other means.

Embryos are valuable by virtue of the means of their formation, their limited availability and their potential to develop into human beings. As such, they should only be used for research to improve human health, well-being of the offspring or reproduction. Setting parameters and goals for the scope of embryo research and its potential application in reproduction should be the subject of robust scientific and ethical debate at the outset. Myriad questions abound, including whether research and clinical application should be exclusively directed toward identifying disease causing genes in early embryos in order to avoid their transfer, or whether gene-altering technologies should also be used for the eradication of disease and the promotion of health in human beings. Whenever possible, the number of embryos used for research should be minimized. Research protocols should be carefully formulated to maximize scientific output. Robust oversight mechanisms should be established to ensure that investigators rigorously adhere to the highest ethical standards.

The scientific discoveries resulting from embryo research have the potential to impact our world in very significant ways. However, knowledge gained from embryo research is one of many discoveries in the medical arena that have transformed human life and health. Examples include the development and utilization of antibiotics, which have changed not only the bacterial microbiome within humans but that of the biosphere itself, and transplant surgery which led to a questioning of human identity and bodily integrity (18, 19). Gene editing of embryos is no less profound, having the ability to alter the genome not only of the child that results but of that child's offspring in perpetuity. This requires additional long-term and carefully considered oversight over multiple generations to ensure that the changes made to one individual do not have untoward effects either to the proband or to future generations. Extensive and comprehensive research is a prerequisite for the clinical application of knowledge gained from the study and manipulation of embryos. It is critical that investigations occur under a controlled environment and with appropriate oversight.

Human embryos have a number of unique characteristics that can only be understood by investigating the embryos themselves. The current state of knowledge suggests that early embryos express a high rate of aneuploidy, some degree of mosaicism and a low rate of implantation. Understanding the role that aneuploidy and mosaicism play in human development could be vital to advances in human health and reproduction. A complex cascade of gene expression needs to occur for the activation of the embryonic genome. Research on early stage in vitro human embryos holds the promise of improving our understanding of the molecular, cellular, genetic and epigenetic mechanisms that control the development of early human embryos. No surrogates for human embryos exist for this type of research. In addition, in order to increase the efficacy of IVF treatment by reducing implantation failure, the incidence and extent of aneuploidy and mosaicism would benefit from further study.

A major focus of embryo research is the avoidance of disease. The earliest form of this research involved sexing embryos and only transferring females to avoid transmission of X-linked disorders. Preimplantation genetic testing has evolved since these early days. It is now possible to screen embryos for any disease or predisposition whose genetics are known, thereby allowing for the transfer of unaffected embryos. This is effective so long as at least one of the screened embryos is unaffected by the disease or predisposition which the screening attempts to prevent. As the safety of preimplantation genetic testing has become established, its use has evolved from testing only for diseases that have severe disability or early death as their sequelae to milder diseases and disease predispositions. This model, of starting with the more severe cases, serves as a good example for the carefully considered incorporation of embryo research over time.

Preimplantation genetic testing as a strategy to avoid disease in offspring and optimize reproductive success has several limitations. Some couples will only produce a limited number of embryos, all of which will be affected by the disease of interest. In other rare cases, such as mitochondrial disorders, all embryos may lead to affected offspring. Avoiding disease transmission in such situations requires incorporation of unaffected mitochondria. Chromosome spindle transfer into enucleated donor eggs was the first modality used to attempt repair of such a diseased embryo (20). One of the most profound embryo altering technologies to date is that of germline editing using methodologies such as the CRISPR/Cas 9 system (21), which could allow for correction of genetic errors in the DNA of an early embryo. The intrauterine transfer of such an embryo would have as its goal the birth of a healthy child, with removal or correction of the disease-causing mutation(s). Because the genetic modification would occur in every cell of the embryo, including germ cells, such heritable alterations raise questions regarding the risks of permanent genetic modification. Given this, such research should initially focus on genes for which strong evidence exists for a link between the gene and the resulting disease or disease predisposition.

Furthermore, early research should be restricted to genetic alterations that prevent serious diseases with significant health effects for which effective medical treatment or other preventative measures are currently absent, limited or highly burdensome. Extensive research that does not have reproductive intent should be carried out before any transfer of gene altered embryos to the uterus for the purpose of achieving a pregnancy is attempted. Careful consideration should be given to the risks versus benefits of gene altering technologies as compared to preimplantation genetic testing, in which no genetic manipulation is undertaken. Such consideration should include the potential risks of unintended sequelae to future generations from the use of germline editing technologies. On the other hand, the possibility that more embryos would be available for reproduction after in vitro fertilization if some embryos could successfully undergo genetic repair should also be part of the calculus.

In addition to avoiding disease, the direct study of poorprogressing or aneuploid human embryos can lead to further understanding of specific mechanisms of cell differentiation and early development. Research on the trophectoderm can be used to delineate mechanisms which allow for or inhibit implantation thereby improving reproductive efficacy. Stem cell lines derived from embryos have allowed for a better understanding of normal and abnormal cell development. The pluripotency of embryonic stem cells provides insight into cellular mechanisms that lead to cell differentiation, and provide a window for the study of regenerative medicine. Stem cells provide a renewable source of cells and tissues whose study holds promise for the development of novel cures and treatments for a range of human diseases.

Over the past several decades, research on supernumerary embryos following IVF has led to a growing understanding of the cascade of events necessary for successful in vitro development and uterine implantation. Such research has resulted in dramatically improved clinical outcomes with in vitro fertilization and a rise in the number of live births following fertility treatment. It has helped prevent the birth of children with severe diseases, and decreased the burden of spontaneous abortions and failed implantation. It is estimated that there are currently over one million embryos cryopreserved in the United States, with more being added each year (22). The proliferation of supernumerary embryos is a byproduct of the fact that fertility treatments are not an exact science, such that in some cases more embryos are produced than are necessary to complete a given individual or couple's family plan. Infertility patients are often burdened with the necessity of determining the disposition of these embryos. The possibility of contributing to further advancement of the scientific understanding of human development and fertility is felt by many previously infertile individuals and couples as the best possible use of the embryos that were originally produced with reproductive intent. Even a small percentage of donated embryos translate into a significant number of embryos available for research. Many of these embryos would otherwise have remained cryopreserved indefinitely or been discarded.

#### b. Alternatives to Research Using Human Embryos

It is a tenet in the research arena that knowledge should be gained while minimizing unwanted negative effects. In some cases, knowledge regarding processes which improve human reproduction, health or well-being may be obtained via modalities that do not involve the study of human embryos. These include the use of animal models, the use of stem cells from the umbilical cord or adult tissue, the derivation and study of induced pluripotent stem cells h(IPSC), the activation of human oocytes by parthenogenesis, and the development and study of synthetic embryos. These alternative methods to the use of human embryos may have the potential to yield valuable insights and outcomes, but their limitations need also be considered.

Animal models (i.e. utilizing non-human primate embryos or other animal embryos) offer an excellent opportunity to understand some aspects of human biology, and have been widely adopted. Further, use of transgenic or genetically manipulated animals offers the opportunity to influence the developmental trajectory and to test a hypothesis. However, findings in animals may not be relevant to humans as unique developmental pathways may be peculiar to each species (23). Stem cells isolated from umbilical cord blood have been shown to have some ability to differentiate into non-hematopoietic cells, such as brain, heart, and liver (24). However umbilical stem cells and stem cells derived from adult tissues have already progressed along the path of differentiation and lack the plasticity of embryonic stem cells. This lack of plasticity limits their usefulness in reproductive research. Unfertilized human oocytes can be activated by parthenogenesis and can recapitulate some early stages of embryo development. However, the absence of the paternal genome and the lack of expression of the related imprinted genes are serious limitations of this strategy.

The advent of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC), by utilizing adult somatic cells that have been reprogrammed to an embryonic state in response to the introduction of transcriptions factors is being developed as a new research modality, allowing for the de-differentiation of adult cells to an earlier developmental state (25). iPSC behave like embryonic stem cells in many respects, and have the ability to differentiate into all germ layers. Furthermore, these cells can be used to study complex human diseases, such as Alzheimer's and cardiac diseases (26, 27). This method would seem to bypass the ethical quandary of having to utilize an unimplanted embryo. However, iPSC appear to maintain an epigenetic memory of their original state with a predisposition for differentiation into their cell of origin (28); thus limiting their ability to exactly mimic the early stages of embryo development (29).

A currently emerging new technology, called "synthetic embryology", allows generation of what has been defined as "synthetic human entities with embryo-like features," or SHEEFS (30). Human embryonic stem cells grown on a scaffold of soft gel tend to rearrange themselves into embryoid bodies. These bodies can recapitulate lumen formation and the polarization of the early epiblast in a way that is similar to the early stages of pro-amnionic cavity development in actual embryos; furthermore, these colonies can develop features identifiable as a primitive streak with cells from all three germ layers (31).

Human embryonic stem cells (hESC) are highly valuable for the richness of information that can be elucidated from their study. These stem cells are derived from unimplanted human embryos. One or more cells of human embryos are obtained either via biopsy of an embryo that will be utilized for transfer, or by removing one or more cells from an embryo that is either not viable or not destined for transfer. The utilization of hESCs is a viable option in the United States, but has substantial limitations. Federal law contained in the DickeyWicker Amendment prohibits federal funding to generate new embryonic stem cell lines if derivation of those lines results in the destruction of the embryo. In addition, some existing embryonic stem cell lines available for research on the National Institutes of Health (NIH) registry were cultured in contact with mouse cells and bovine serum, a fact that greatly limits their potential therapeutic applications.

Research on human embryos should be allowable when alternative means to gaining knowledge prove inadequate. The Task Force recognizes that while alternative methods might be excellent for selected inquiries, they do not comprehensively capture the complexity and uniqueness of human embryos. There are circumstances where human embryos need to be studied because this will be the only opportunity to gain meaningful and applicable data. Furthermore, applying knowledge gained from modalities other than human embryos may lead to harm by not providing adequate insight into the unique functioning of human embryos. In all cases, research on human embryos not intended for reproduction should be a precursor to research involving the transfer of embryos that have been altered in an attempt to improve their reproductive efficacy or the health and well-being of the resultant offspring.

# V. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS IN GERMLINE GENE EDITING

Germline gene editing involves the alteration of genes within germ cells (oocyte and sperm) or embryos and results in changes that are theoretically present in all cells of the embryo (32). Germline gene-editing research can use gametes, viable or non-viable embryos remaining from IVF, or embryos produced specifically for research. Germline gene editing is particularly controversial because changes made in the germline could be passed down to future generations. The main ethical concerns relate to safety and efficacy, informed consent, and justice and equity.

Safety concerns with germline gene editing include socalled "off-target effects" (when edits are made in the wrong place in the genome) and mosaicism (when some cells are edited and others are not). Because of these risks, most researchers agree that until germline gene editing is deemed safe, it should not be attempted for reproductive purposes until studies without intent to transfer these embryos into the uterus establish safety and efficacy. Specific safety concerns include the effect of unwanted or off-target mutations potentially resulting in inactivation of essential genes, activation of oncogenes, or rearrangement of chromosomes. Various methods are being explored for the monitoring of off-target effects. There is currently no consensus on which method is optimal or what is an acceptable level of off-target mutations. This is even more challenging because the biological material is usually limited. Furthermore, the relative health risk of offtarget mutations is often unclear. The specificity of gene editing must be evaluated in the context of the normal genetic variability among humans. New methods will need to be developed for identifying and monitoring off-target effects in the embryo and in-vivo.

Additionally, gene editing may carry the risk of genetic mosaicism, if it is unable to affect all cells uniformly. Safety

concerns should be investigated with further research using animal models ideally followed for multiple generations. Long-term animal research may not be able to provide guidance in a reasonable time frame. Work in non-human primates is slow, expensive, and limited to centers with primate colony resources. Moving this research to the clinic requires the determination of a favorable risk-benefit ratio. Human clinical trials should follow children into adulthood, with the consent of all parties involved.

Questions about efficacy in germline gene editing also loom large. What impact will gene deletion or addition have on the overall health of the offspring? How will gene editing in the embryo impact the expression or suppression of diseases not specifically targeted by the editing? Will the elimination of one genetically-based disease give rise to the expression or susceptibility of other diseases? These and other critical questions need to be addressed before any clinical applications can proceed. In the meanwhile, the use of germline gene-editing not intended for reproductive purposes should be directed towards studying these and other questions while focusing on eliminating or preventing diseases with significant impacts on the health or well-being of offspring.

While alternative methods for disease prevention in ART such as preimplantation genetic testing (PGT) exist, PGT is not applicable in all circumstances. For example, in rare cases when both prospective parents are homozygous for a recessive disease-causing mutation or one prospective parent is homozygous for a dominant disease-causing mutation, all resulting embryos would be affected with the disease. Furthermore, if proven safe and effective, germline gene editing may improve the efficiency of PGT by increasing the number of embryos available for transfer and reducing the burden of IVF, including the associated physical risks and costs. Also, for some patients PGT may pose moral or ethical dilemmas surrounding disposition when one or more, or all embryos are determined to contain a disease-causing mutation. For patients who desire a healthy child but who disfavor embryo discard or cryopreservation, the use of PGT could yield disease-affected embryos whose ultimate disposition could pose moral or ethical distress. Theoretically, gene editing technologies could relieve this moral distress by limiting the embryos produced to those that are disease-free.

Another concern is that germline gene editing for therapeutic uses may lead to a "slippery slope" to using it for indications beyond disease avoidance and promotion of well-being of the offspring. This is often referred to as enhancement. Many view the use of reproductive technologies to alter that which is "normal" in the human condition to gain some perceived advantage as controversial. Others argue that these concerns can be managed through policy and regulation. Still others argue that parental desire to enhance the health and well-being of their children is an existing, long standing and laudatory aspect of parenthood that is operationalized in numerous ways beginning with prenatal caretaking and continuing throughout the child's life cycle. That said, there is concern that perceived enhancement technologies, once available, will be used for objectionable purposes in parts of the world with less robust regulations and oversight. As with many reproductive technologies, the possibility that germline gene editing will only be accessible to the wealthy and will increase health stratification among socioeconomic classes and disparities in access to healthcare raises concerns regarding a lack of distributive justice.

Some people argue that patients ultimately affected by these edits, the children and future generations, cannot give informed consent. Yet, prospective parents make many decisions that affect their future children who do not give informed consent. In fact, the very act of human conception produces a person with a unique genome, aspects of which can persist in future generations, and no consent is sought or received from the would-be child. In the context of embryo research using gene editing, there is concern about being able to obtain fully informed consent from prospective parents when the risks of germline gene therapy are largely unknown, and the technical complexities surrounding the processes are massive. In order to fully assess the risks, there is a need for long-term follow up of the resulting children.

The National Academies of Sciences recently concluded that germline gene editing for the prevention of serious genetic diseases is ethically acceptable, but that it should not be used for enhancement purposes (33). The NAS also concluded that germline gene editing should not be attempted for reproductive purposes at this time because of the lack of safety and efficacy data (34). While supporting the continuation of pre-clinical research, the NAS concluded that "clinical trials might be permitted after peer-reviewed preclinical research further clarifies the potential risks and benefits, only for compelling medical reasons in the absence of reasonable alternatives, and with maximum transparency and strict oversight" (33). Similarly, the UK-based Nuffield Council on Bioethics concluded that germline gene-editing is ethically acceptable as long as it secures the welfare of future children and does not increase disadvantage, discrimination, or division in society (35). In 2015, a group of leading scientists and ethicists at the forefront of reproductive research published a consensus statement delineating a cautious approach to genomic engineering and germline gene modification (36). Following the announcement at the second international summit on gene editing in Hong Kong in 2018, the presidents of the U.S. National Academies of Medicine and Science, and the president of the Chinese Academy of Sciences issued a call to action, stating that "To maintain the public's trust that someday genome editing will be able to treat or prevent disease, the research community needs to take steps now to demonstrate that this new tool can be applied with competence, integrity, and benevolence" (37). Both the National Academies and the Nuffield Council urge continued societal debate on the topic of germline gene editing. This position statement is aligned with that recommendation, set out as an additional voice in this ongoing conversation about a vital public policy matter.

### VI. APPROACHES TO OVERSIGHT: MECHANISMS FOR APPROVAL, REVIEW, CONSENT AND REPORTING IN EMBRYO RESEARCH

#### a. Oversight Mechanisms

Much research involving human embryos takes place in settings such as private clinics that are not within the explicit purview of existing regulatory structures. Thus, initial questions about oversight of embryo research are whether it should be recommended at all, whether a requirement to report research is sufficient (and how such a reporting requirement should be structured and monitored), and whether facilities conducting the research should be ethically encouraged or required to employ existing regulatory structures for oversight. If oversight is to be recommended, an additional question is whether to rely on the existing regulatory framework established by the Common Rule (a multipart federal regulatory scheme governing the protection of human subjects in biomedical research first promulgated in 1981) or to develop a new oversight structure specifically for embryo research (38).

Given the complex ethical issues involved in research involving human embryos, the Task Force believes that oversight of the research process is essential. The primary oversight mechanism for research involving human subjects in the U.S. is the system of institutional review boards (IRBs) established by the federal Common Rule. As outlined below, the Task Force recommends use of the Common Rule/IRB framework for research involving embryos, even when the facility conducting the research falls outside of structures in which the framework is legally required.

The Common Rule applies to research sponsored by federal agencies subscribing to the rule; similar standards also apply to research to be submitted to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for marketing approval of drugs, devices, or biologics (39). The Common Rule requires IRB review and approval of research, although some reviews may be expedited and some categories of human subject research are exempt. A primary difference between the Common Rule requirements and the FDA requirements is that the latter impose more stringent expectations for informed consent. If research is not federally funded or if there are no plans to use what is learned for submission to the FDA, this regulatory structure may not be mandated. However, many larger institutions, such as academic medical centers, choose to apply both the Common Rule and the FDA requirements to all the research they conduct and make assurances that they are doing so to the federal government. Some states also have legal requirements that apply to embryo research; these requirements range from complete prohibition to efforts to encourage stem cell research (40). Clinics falling outside these structures would not be legally required to follow the Common Rule but in the judgment of the Task Force should be encouraged to do so.

The definition of "research" is important for understanding the scope of the federal Common Rule. "Research" is "a systematic investigation, including research development, testing and evaluation, designed to develop or contribute to generalizable knowledge" (38). The variety of quality improvement activities conducted by clinics is not research under this definition, and thus would not require IRB review. However, under ASRM Ethics Committee opinions patient consent is required for the use of embryos in quality improvement efforts by clinics (41).

In the judgment of the Task Force, oversight of research involving embryos should occur in a consistent manner across all facilities that perform human embryo research. Embryo research has the potential to be ethically complex and politically controversial. Because there are differing judgments involving the status of the embryo, as discussed in the first section of this position statement, these controversies attend all embryo research, whether or not it is conducted with reproductive intent. This research can be expected to draw ongoing public concern. It is recommended that any sponsor (funder) of human embryo research establish its own guidelines for initial review and subsequent oversight of such projects. Even if such guidelines permit ceding such review and oversight functions to local or commercial institutional review boards, it is reasonable to recommend for the sponsor to have a role in the initial review of compliance with guidelines for human embryo research and again prior to the release of funds.

Furthermore, given that research embryos are scarce commodities, it is of vital importance that robust efforts be made to maximize the knowledge gained from each research project. To this end, researchers should be encouraged to publish their findings in a peer reviewed manner as soon as is feasible. Making this a prerequisite of research funding will increase the transparency of the research and allow a large swath of experts to analyze the data and advance the science in a collaborative manner. This will allow the community of researchers timely access to the knowledge gleaned from embryo research, ultimately benefiting society as a whole. Given the complex issues surrounding germline gene editing, full disclosure regarding future research should be encouraged. One mechanism for achieving such disclosure is through the development of a registry for current and future experiments in this field.

# b. Application of the Common Rule to Consent for Embryo Research

Standards for informed consent to research involving embryos have been discussed in several previous ASRM Ethics Committee opinions. For example, in the case of donating embryos for human embryonic stem cell (hESC) research, the Ethics Committee recommends that donation occur only after patients' therapy is complete and only after a process of consent (5). The Committee's opinion addressing the disposition of abandoned embryos specifies that "in no circumstances" should abandoned embryos be used in research without consent on the part of patients (41). These specifications do not cover all the ethical issues involved in embryo research, however, such as minimization of embryo use or attention to the potential risks of this research especially when it has reproductive potential. Establishing a separate framework for all embryo research instead of relying on the Common Rule structure also would be difficult, for several reasons. Embryo research bears many similarities to other research involving human tissues; establishment of a separate framework for this research is potentially reduplicative of efforts already in place at many institutions. Such a separate framework could be inefficient and create the possibility of inconsistencies in reviewing research. Moreover, the IRB framework is well known and readily available, even for entities in the private sector. Finally, use of this framework creates a common practice for all embryo research.

At the same time, care must be taken in the application of the Common Rule framework to human embryo research. This framework may be undergoing significant changes over the next few years. A final rule for revisions to the Common Rule was published on January 19, 2017, to become effective one year later; implementation of these revisions was delayed until January 2019, when the updated provisions took effect. The current Common Rule does not apply to tissue samples that have been de-identified (42) and this provision is continued in the revised Rule (43). Although some patient advocates argued that it was important for them to be aware of and consent to the use of tissues that had been derived from their bodies, others commenting on the Common Rule revisions were concerned that a requirement of consent for all use of human bio-specimens, whether or not they were identified with individuals, would significantly constrain the research enterprise. This concern about impact on research prevailed in the final rule (44), which does not require consent to research involving tissues that do not contain information identifying individuals.

The revisions to the Common Rule offer an additional possibility regarding consent to research with identified tissue samples - "broad consent." This mechanism may give clinics an important new option to enable non-reproductive research involving embryos that can be identified. Under the broad consent mechanism, individuals could consent to any subsequent research use of identifiable tissue samples. At this point, the distinction between non-reproductive research and research in which reproduction is intended is critical. In the judgment of the Task Force, it is permissible for patients to consent in advance to any form of embryo research that does not lead to reproduction, including future research that is as yet unidentified or unknown at the time that the embryos are donated. Contemporaneous consent for research, that is, consent obtained at or just prior to the commencement of research, is not intended to result in reproduction should not be required. Consent for research at an earlier time, including at the time embryos are produced or subsequently when a decision to donate supernumerary embryos is made, is sufficient.

This is not the case for research with reproductive intent. Given that embryos have reproductive potential, and that individuals should never be compelled to reproduce without their knowledge or without their consent, any embryo research with reproductive intent should only occur with the explicit consent of the individuals who have dispositional authority over the embryos (this may be the gametes providers or, in the case of gamete donation, the gamete recipients/ intended parents). This consent should occur at the time that the embryos are donated for the specific research project; broad consent in anticipation of the possibility of research with embryos that are no longer needed for fertility treatment is inappropriate for embryo research that has reproductive potential and requires a new consent from those individuals responsible for the initial generation of such embryos or those with decisional authority over the embryos' disposition.

#### VII. SOURCES OF EMBRYOS FOR RESEARCH AND THE ROLE OF HUMAN SUBJECTS: COMPENSATION, CONSENT AND CONFIDENTIALITY IN EMBRYO RESEARCH

Embryos for research may arise from multiple sources. A common source is from the donation of supernumerary embryos that result from in vitro fertilization procedures in excess of what is needed to complete the individual or couple's family plan. The use of donated supernumerary embryos for research raises questions about any compensation paid to gamete providers or those donating the embryos for research, as well as issues surrounding the consent process once a decision has been made to donate.

# a. The Question of Compensation for Embryo Donation

The Task Force reviewed a number of positions regarding payment for embryos to be used in research protocols. The vast majority of published statements on this question hold that individuals donating embryos that were originally produced with reproductive intent should not be paid as an enticement to make their embryos available for scientific investigation (45, 46). The Task Force supports this view while acknowledging that individuals may reach different conclusions on the subject and that practices in research arenas across the country may vary, including offering reimbursement of storage fees incurred by donors who later agree to provide embryos for research purposes. The Task Force recognizes that individuals will need to come to their own respective decisions in this area. Further, the Task Force believes that the formation of human embryos expressly for research purposes is ethically acceptable so long as the proposed research is consistent with the ethical recommendations set out in this position statement. Payment to egg and sperm donors who produce gametes solely for research purposes is ethically acceptable in the same manner as other human subject research participants are compensated for such participation. While understanding that decisions in this area are for individual judgment, the Task Force believes it is useful to express its considered judgment on this subject.

The Task Force believes that the decision to donate embryos initially produced with reproductive intent should be delinked from the enticement of donors to surrender embryos for reasons other than pure donative intent and/or a desire to support scientific advancement. The time, effort and cost to produce these supernumerary embryos were expended with reproductive intent, and the Task Force does not believe that subsequent compensation for their donation can be ethically justified. Embryos may also be produced specifically for research, in which case the potential for reproduction was never the impetus for their formation. This can occur when research involves a specific disease, and gametes from individuals who express or carry the disease of interest are sought out. In such cases, the formation of disease-specific embryos may be the best method to advance the understanding and treatment of the underlying disease. Embryo formation for research purposes can also occur if there is a shortage of embryos. Financial compensation of men and women who provide sperm and oocytes for reproductive purposes has long been accepted in the United States. Reimbursement to individuals providing gametes for research should likewise be permitted. The Task Force acknowledges the seemingly disparate treatment accorded gamete donors who often do not receive compensation in connection with their donation when its purpose is research as opposed to reproduction (47). However, it is essential to highlight that the advocacy for compensation to gamete donors, particularly oocyte donors, is for the "time, inconvenience, and discomfort associated with" the donation process.

#### b. Informed Consent and Confidentiality in Embryo Research

Obtaining the informed consent of those with dispositional authority over embryos donated for research purposes is an essential, indispensable process that must precede any use of embryos in a research setting. When derivation of human embryonic stem cells (hESC) from the donated embryos is the intent of the research, this information should be included in the informed consent process. Such consent should make sure that the donors are aware that the removal of the inner cell mass of an embryo for the derivation of hESCs leads to the destruction of the embryo. It should also inform the embryo donors that cell lines may be stored indefinitely, and used for multiple research projects, and be shared among more than one investigator. They may be used for basic research and/or to develop new drugs, tests, treatments or products that could have potential commercial value. As part of the consent process, embryo donors should be informed that they will not derive any direct benefit from research performed on their donated embryos. Embryo donors should be reassured that their donated embryos will not be used for reproductive purposes.

Further, if known, information regarding the specific type of research planned, the source of funding, the research's possible commercial value and potential clinical applications should be disclosed (5). Disclosure surrounding the potential commercial value of any research or its results should include any compensation or other financial benefits that might inure to one or more members of the research team (48). Broad consent is also acceptable, in which the initial consent for research embodies a large swath of potential future research uses and known commercial benefits. The embryo donors should be informed that they would not receive financial compensation from any commercial uses of technologies and therapies that are developed from research involving their donated embryos (49). It is also valuable to consider the extent to which individuals and couples considering embryo donation may stipulate which forms of research they find ethically acceptable for their donation. Many of those considering donation are appreciative of and impacted by the specificity of research plans (50). Those obtaining informed consent should be as specific as possible about current research projects for which embryo donations are intended to the extent this can be known. This allows patients to opt out of specific projects which may be ethically unacceptable to them.

The confidentiality and privacy of the embryo donors should be a priority, and all genetic samples should be deidentified to the extent possible. However, given the growing ability to match individuals with their genetic samples, donors should be aware that anonymity cannot be absolutely guaranteed into the future. There also may be cases in which additional information about the donors is necessary for the research; in such cases, privacy and confidentiality should be protected to the extent possible but donors must be informed that it cannot be guaranteed. At the same time, donors should be informed that they will not necessarily be alerted to information learned from their genetic material. Donors should be counseled that if disclosure of genetic information is provided for in the research protocol, the revelation of information gained from research on embryos may affect the donors, their family members and their offspring, and they should be given the option of not receiving such information.

In some cases, couples donating embryos for research produced these embryos with the assistance of an oocyte or sperm donor. In most cases, oocyte and sperm donors consent to relinquish all rights and interests to their donated gametes once the gametes leave their bodies. This then allows the recipients of the donor gametes to make decisions regarding the ultimate disposition of the embryos produced from donor oocytes, sperm or both. Whether such broad consent also applies to research uses that involve the derivation of stem cell lines or the alteration of the genetic makeup of an embryo has not been established. Ideally, the initial consent that occurs at the time that the gamete is donated should include all potential future uses of the embryos produced from the gamete donation. This becomes complicated when research directions that could not have been envisioned at the time of the gamete donation become a reality. Such complexity should be included in the initial consent process, and allowances should be made for the gamete donors to either opt out of specific future uses or to specify which types of research they consent to for the resultant embryos.

Another possibility is to utilize a roll-down consent method in which the oocyte or sperm donors provide broad consent for future research of embryos that remain after the gamete recipients have utilized the resulting embryos to complete their family plan. This consent would specify that the ultimate disposition of the embryos would be determined by the gamete recipients at a future date once they no longer require the resulting embryos for reproductive purposes (51). The exception would be that the recipients would not be permitted to donate the embryos for any research use that includes reproductive intent without explicit consent from the gamete providers.

### VIII. THE ROLE OF PUBLIC PERCEPTION IN DECISIONS SURROUNDING EMBRYO RESEARCH

The pursuit of embryo research and the incorporation of scientific findings resulting from this research have been affected by a number of factors. One of these is the availability of embryos, research tools and investigators which allow the scientific process to flow. As seen in a previous section, regulation has played a significant role in how embryo research is undertaken and funded. Public opinion is yet another determinant which influences embryo research. Strong sentiments in support of or against embryo research in the populace affect voting, government spending and ultimately public policy.

There have been several research polls in recent years that attempt to assess public opinion towards embryo research. One issue with polling Americans regarding their views on this controversial topic is the variability in the public's knowledge regarding this issue. In general, Americans who have more familiarity with the types of research that can be performed using embryos and the types of clinical applications that may be developed have an increased comfort level both with the pursuit of this research and its funding. However, many Americans admit to a lack of exposure to this area of investigation, thus preventing them from having views and opinions regarding such research. For example, one poll from 2016 found that 69% of Americans have heard little or nothing about germline editing (52). A Pew research poll conducted in 2018 found that 42% of those surveyed said they had not heard or read about gene editing (53). In 2015, a Hart Research Associates survey found that over a quarter of Americans surveyed online stated that they did not know enough to have an opinion either way regarding heritable DNA modification (54). This was particularly pronounced among seniors, of which 42% felt that they had not heard enough about the technology to provide an opinion (55). A Gallup poll conducted in 2005 found that of those surveyed, 58% state that they have followed the debate about government funding of stem cell research very or somewhat closely, and 42% stated that they either did not follow the debate or did not do so too closely (55). Further information regarding the results of polling in understanding the public's views towards emerging genetic technologies may be found in Appendix B.

The study of public perceptions towards embryo research highlights the urgent need to provide education to the population at large regarding the scientific underpinnings of embryo research. Such education should focus on providing knowledge to allow for an understanding of the possible research questions that may be answered by studying embryos. Armed with such knowledge, a robust dialogue may be undertaken to allow for maximal societal engagement in making funding and research decisions that will shape the future of our understanding of reproduction, health and disease.

#### **IX. CONCLUSIONS**

The study of human embryos is not new. The first report of a successful in vitro fertilization of an oocyte occurred over 50 years ago (56), and the first child born from in vitro fertilization is now over 40 years old (57). To date, over eight million babies have been born following in vitro fertilization (58). Since its earliest days, the study of embryos has engendered a fierce debate regarding morality, ethics and the public good. Then, as now, federal funding sources were often not available to support embryo research, and private funds were utilized (59). Nevertheless, embryo research and its clinical applications continue to march on. It has been over two decades since the first human embryonic stem cells were isolated, allowing for vast and varied research whose aim is the acquisition of scientific knowledge for the advancement of health and well-being. Most recently, gene editing technologies have become possible, and research aiming to change the genetic milieu of an unimplanted embryo has raised significant controversy.

Over the course of history, each novel scientific advancement led to a reevaluation of what can and what should be done. Scientific breakthroughs are often accompanied by a debate over their true sphere of influence and the magnitude of their impact. Embryo research is no exception. The ethical underpinnings inherent to embryo research are no different than those applied to any other area of scientific investigation. And yet, studying embryos feels somehow singular. Embryos, by virtue of their ability to become children, hold a special uniqueness due to their developmental potential. Changes in these embryos may be perpetuated indefinitely over future generations. Many technological breakthroughs impact generations of humans, but none are as emotionally and ethically charged as those involving embryos. Perhaps this is due to the inability to separate humans' perception of the essential nature of the embryo from the teleological question of what it means to be human.

Society is at a juncture. While the pace of scientific inquiry appears to be advancing at lightning speed, the scientific community's ability to both learn from and influence the embryo is yet in its infancy. We have the profound responsibility to guide the course of research in this field in a way that follows the ethical tenets that are inseparable from the just and responsible process of research. This is no small feat and requires collaboration of all of the stakeholders. While scientists have a role in determining what is possible, society at large should guide what should be done. Citizens should direct public policy and guide governmental and regulatory policies so as to safeguard this research and its implementation. At the heart of this is education, for without an understanding of what can be done, we will not as a society possess the tools to guide what should be done. As an understanding of both the safety and efficacy of new technologies, particularly in the realm of gene editing, evolves, the dialogue will change. We should as a society be flexible and open to this new frontier, addressing the issues with an astute eye towards optimizing the human health and well-being that these technologies promise to provide while mitigating any harmful effects, both on the individual and for society at large.

By incorporating ethical guidelines at each stage of the investigative and implementative process, the health and well-being of those who stand to benefit from current and emerging technologies will be safeguarded. While the exact trajectory of this path cannot be predicted, acting in adherence with ethical principles will optimize the ability of the research to benefit all stakeholders. Robust oversight and ongoing efforts to educate the public will allow for a productive ongoing dialogue regarding each new finding. The expectation of knowledge sharing will allow scientists to evaluate, critique, and build upon each other's research. Using this proposed framework as a guide to contemporaneous as well as future research questions, some as yet unimagined, will safeguard the process of embryo research and allow current and future generations to reap its full benefit.

Acknowledgments: This report was developed by the Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine as a service to its members and other practicing clinicians. While this document reflects the views of members of that Committee, it is not intended to be the only approved standard of practice or to dictate an exclusive course of treatment in all cases. This report was approved by the Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine and the Board of Directors of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine.

This document was reviewed by ASRM members and their input was considered in the preparation of the final document. The Ethics Committee acknowledges the special contribution of the ASRM Task Force on Ethical Embryo Research in the preparation of this document. All members of the task force disclosed research, commercial and financial relationships with funders, and manufacturers or distributors of goods or services used to treat patients. Members of the task force included Paula Amato, M.D. Judith Daar, J.D. (Chair), Leslie Francis, Ph.D. (Drafting Subcommittee), J.D.; Sigal Klipstein, M.D. (Drafting Subcommittee); David Ball, Ph.D.; Paolo Rinaudo, M.D., Ph.D.; Alexandar Rajovic, M.D., Ph.D.; Marissa Palmore, M.S.IV.; Sean Tipton, M.A.; Christos Coutifaris, M.D., Ph.D.; Richard Reindollar, M.D.; and Susan Gitlin, Ph.D. The Committee further acknowledges the special contribution from Amanda N. Kallen, M.D. of a comprehensive outline and reference library addressing current issues and developments in the realm of embryo research.

The following members of the ASRM Ethics Committee participated in the development of this document. All Committee members disclosed commercial and financial relationships with manufacturers or distributors of goods or services used to treat patients. Members of the Committee who were found to have conflicts of interest based on the relationships disclosed did not participate in the discussion or development of this document.

Judith Daar, J.D., (Chair); Lee Collins, J.D.; Joseph Davis, D.O.; Owen Davis, M.D.; Leslie Francis, Ph.D., J.D.; Elena Gates, M.D.; Elizabeth Ginsburg, M.D.; Susan Gitlin, Ph.D.; Sigal Klipstein, M.D.; Laurence McCullough, Ph.D.; Richard Paulson, M.D.; Richard Reindollar, M.D.; Ginny Ryan, M.D.; Mark Sauer, M.D., M.S.; Sean Tipton, M.A.; Lynn Westphal, M.D.; Julianne Zweifel, Ph.D.

### REFERENCES

- Reindollar RH. Surfing the waves of change in reproductive medicine: past, present and future. A presentation of the 2014 ASRM Strategic Plan. Fertil Steril 2015;103:35–8.
- American Society for Reproductive Médicine. ASRM Strategic Research Blueprint. Accessible at: https://www.asrm.org/globalassets/asrm/asrmcontent/news-and-publications/news-and-research/announcements/2018\_ asrm\_strategic\_research\_blueprint.pdf. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Zegers-Hochschild F, Adamson GD, Dyer S, Racowsky C, de Mouzon J, Sokol R, et al. The International Glossary on Infertility and Fertility Care, 2017. Fertil Steril 2017;108:393–406.
- Davis v. Davis, 842 S.W.2d 588 (1992). Accessible at https://scholar. google.com/scholar\_case?case=17302847389043812781&q=Davis+v. +Davis,+842+S.W.2d+588+(1992).&hl=en&as\_sdt=206&as\_vis=1, last accessed 12/20/19.
- Ethics Committee of American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Donating embryos for human embryonic stem cell (hESC) research: a committee opinion. Fertil Steril 2013;100:935–9.
- Public Law 114-113, Sec. 749. Available at: https://www.congress.gov/ 114/plaws/publ113/PLAW-114publ113.pdf. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- President's Council on Bioethics. Monitoring Stem Cell Research, Jan. 2004. Available at: https://bioethicsarchive.georgetown.edu/pcbe/reports/stemcell/. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- The White House, President George W Bush, Office of the Press Secretary. President Discusses Stem Cell Research, August 9, 2001. Accessible at: https://georgewbush-whitehouse.archives.gov/news/releases/2001/08/ 20010809-2.html, last accessed 12/20/19.
- Executive Order 13505—Removing Barriers to Responsible Scientific Research Involving Human Stem Cells. Accessible at: https://www.govinfo. gov/content/pkg/FR-2009-03-11/pdf/E9-5441.pdf. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- National Institutes of Health. National Institutes of Health Guidelines for Human Stem Cell Research. Available at: https://stemcells.nih.gov/policy/ 2009-guidelines.htm. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- National Institutes of Health. Statement on NIH funding of research using gene-editing technologies in human embryos. Accessible at: https://www.nih.gov/about-nih/who-we-are/nih-director/statements/ statement-nih-funding-research-using-gene-editing-technologies-humanembryos/. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- National Institutes of Health (3). Statement on Claim of First Gene-Edited Babies by Chinese Researcher. Available at: https://www.nih.gov/aboutnih/who-we-are/nih-director/statements/statement-claim-first-gene-editedbabies-chinese-researcher. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- The National Conference of State Legislatures (NCSL). Embryonic and fetal research laws. Available at: http://www.ncsl.org/research/health/embryonicand-fetal-research-laws.aspx. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- State of California. Proposition 71: Stem Cell Research. Funding. Bonds. Initiative Constitutional Amendment and Statute. Available at: https:// lao.ca.gov/ballot/2004/71\_11\_2004.htm. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- National Institutes of Health. State Initiatives for Stem Cell Research. Available at: https://stemcells.nih.gov/research/state-research.htm. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Liang P, Ding C, Sun H, Xie X, Xu Y, Zhang X, et al. Correction of betathalassemia mutant by base editor in human embryos. Protein Cell 2017; 8:811–22.
- Ma H, Marti-Gutierrez N, Park SW, Wu J, Lee Y, Suzuki K, et al. Correction of a pathogenic gene mutation in human embryos. Nature 2017;548: 413–9.
- **18.** Gaynes R. The discovery of penicillin—new insights after more than 75 years of clinical use. Emerg Infect Dis 2017;23:849–53.
- **19.** Quintin J. Organ transplantation and meaning of life: the quest for self fulfilment. Med Health Care Philos 2012;16:565–74.
- Amato P, Tachibana M, Sparman M, Mitalipov S. Three-parent in vitro fertilization: gene replacement for the prevention of inherited mitochondrial diseases. Fertil Steril 2014;101:31–5.

- Xiong X, Chen M, Lim WA, Zhao D, Qi LS. CRISPR/Cas9 for human genome engineering and disease research. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 2016; 17:131–54.
- 22. Lomax GP, Trounson AO. Correcting misperceptions about cryopreserved embryos and stem cell research. Nat Biotechnol 2013;31:288–90.
- 23. Williams SM, Haines JL, Moore JH. The use of animal models in the study of complex disease: all else is never equal or why do so many human studies fail to replicate animal findings? Bioessays 2004;26:170–9.
- Kogler G, Sensken S, Airey JA, Trapp T, Muschen M, Feldhahn N, et al. A new human somatic stem cell from placental cord blood with intrinsic pluripotent differentiation potential. J Exp Med 2004;200:123–35.
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 2006;126: 663–76.
- Spencer CI, Baba S, Nakamura K, Hua EA, Sears MA, Fu CC, et al. Calcium transients closely reflect prolonged action potentials in iPSC models of inherited cardiac arrhythmia. Stem Cell Reports 2014;3:269–81.
- Israel MA, Yuan SH, Bardy C, Reyna SM, Mu Y, Herrera C, al Het. Probing sporadic and familial Alzheimer's disease using induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 2012;482:216–20.
- Polo JM, Liu S, Figueroa ME, Kulalert W, Eminli S, Tan KY, et al. Cell type of origin influences the molecular and functional properties of mouse induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 2010;28:848–55.
- Kang E, Wang X, Tippner-Hedges R, Ma H, Folmes CD, Gutierrez NM, et al. Age-Related Accumulation of Somatic Mitochondrial DNA Mutations in Adult-Derived Human iPSCs. Cell Stem Cell 2016;18: 625–36.
- Aach J, Lunshof J, Iyer E, Church GM. Addressing the ethical issues raised by synthetic human entities with embryo-like features. Elife 2017;6: e20674.
- Warmflash A, Sorre B, Etoc F, Siggia ED, Brivanlou AH. A method to recapitulate early embryonic spatial patterning in human embryonic stem cells. Nat Methods 2014;11:847–54.
- Ormond KE, Mortlock DP, Scholes DT, Bombard Y, Brody LC, Faucett A, et al. Human germline genome editing. Am J Hum Genet 2017;101: 167–76.
- National Academy of Sciences. Human genome editing: science, ethics, and governance. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2017. https://doi.org/10.17226/24623.
- National Academy of Sciences. On Human Genome Editing II: Statement by the Organizing Committee of the Second International Summit on Human Genome Editing November 29. Available at: http://www8. nationalacademies.org/onpinews/newsitem.aspx?RecordID=11282018b. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Nuffield Council on Bioethics. Genome editing and human reproduction. Available at: http://nuffieldbioethics.org/wp-content/uploads/Genomeediting-and-human-reproduction-FINAL-website.pdf. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Baltimore D, Berg P, Botchan M, Carroll D, Charo RA, Church G, et al. Biotechnology. A prudent path forward for genomic engineering and germline gene modification. Science 2015;348:36–8.
- Dzau VJ, McNutt M, Bai C. Wake-up call from Hong Kong. Science 2018; 362:1215.
- Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects. cfr45 CFR 46. Available at: https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/regulations/45cfr-46/index.html. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance and Other Information of Special Interest to MCM Stakeholders. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/emergencypreparedness-and-response/mcm-legal-regulatory-and-policy-framework/ guidance-and-other-information-special-interest-mcm-stakeholders. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- National Conference of State Legislatures, Embryonic and Fetal Research Laws. Available at: http://www.ncsl.org/research/health/embryonic-andfetal-research-laws.aspx. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Disposition of abandoned embryos: a committee opinion. Fertil Steril 2013;99:1848–9.

- US Department of Health & Human Services. 45 C.F.R. § 42.102. Available at https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/regulations/45-cfr-46/index.html, last accessed 12/20/19.
- Office of Human Research Protections. Revised common rule. Accessible at: https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/regulations/finalizedrevisions-common-rule/index.html. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects; Final Rule, Federal Register 82, no. 12 at 7150 (Jan 19, 2017). Accessible at: https://www.gpo.gov/ fdsys/pkg/FR-2017-01-19/html/2017-01058.htm. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- American Academy of Pediatrics. Human embryonic stem cell (hESC) and human embryo research. Available at: https://pediatrics.aappublications. org/content/pediatrics/130/5/972.full.pdf. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- 46. Institute of Medicine and National Research Council. Final Report of the National Academies' Human Embryonic Stem Cell Research Advisory Committee and 2010 Amendments to the National Academies' Guidelines for Human Embryonic Stem Cell Research. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2010. https://doi.org/10.17226/12923.
- Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Financial compensation of oocyte donors: an Ethics Committee opinion. Fertil Steril 2016;106:e15–9.
- Moore v. Regents of the University of California, 51 Cal. 3d 120 (1990). Accessible at https://law.justia.com/cases/california/supreme-court/3d/51/ 120.html. Last accessed December 20, 2019.
- **49.** Ethics Committee of American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Informed consent and the use of gametes and embryos for research: a committee opinion. Fertil Steril 2014;101:332–5.
- Lyerly AD, Faden RR. Embryonic stem cells. Willingness to donate frozen embryos for stem cell research. Science 2007;317:46–7.
- Dillon KE, Fiester AM. Sperm and oocyte cryopreservation: comprehensive consent and the protection of patient autonomy. Hum Reprod 2012;27: 2894–8.
- Harvard TH Chan School of Public Health. The public and genetic editing, testing, and therapy. Available at: https://cdn1.sph.harvard.edu/wpcontent/uploads/sites/94/2016/01/STAT-Harvard-Poll-Jan-2016-Genetic-Technology.pdf. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Pew Research Center. Public U.S. public opinion on the future use of gene editing. Available at: http://www.pewinternet.org/2016/07/26/u-s-publicopinion-on-the-future-use-of-gene-editing/. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Hart Research Associates. Public attitudes regarding new technology for editing DNA. Available at: http://www.synbioproject.org/site/assets/files/ 1381/edit\_poll\_5212015\_synbiopro.pdf. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Gallup. Stem Cell Research. Available at: https://news.gallup.com/poll/ 21676/stem-cell-research.aspx. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Edwards RG, Donahue RP, Baramki TA, Jones HW Jr. Preliminary attempts to fertilize human oocytes matured in vitro. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1966;15: 192–200.
- 57. Steptoe PC, Edwards RG. Birth after the reimplantation of a human embryo. Lancet 1978;2:366.
- European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology. More than 8 million babies born from IVF sincCe the world's first in 1978. Science Daily, 7/3/2018. Available at: https://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2018/07/ 180703084127.htm. Last accessed May 23, 2019.
- Johnson MH, Franklin SB, Cottingham M, Hopwood N. Why the Medical Research Council refused Robert Edwards and Patrick Steptoe support for research on human conception in 1971. Hum Reprod 2010;25:2157–74.
- New York Times. 6/12/1981, page 00015. Available at: https://www. nytimes.com/1981/06/12/obituaries/pierre-soupart-pioneer-in-laboratoryfertilizaton.html. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- 61. Culliton BJ. Ethics advisory board confronts conception in the test tube. Science 1978 Oct 13;202:198–9.
- Ethics Advisory Board. HEW support of research involving human in vitro fertilization and embryo transfer. Available at: https://repository.library. georgetown.edu/bitstream/handle/10822/559350/HEW\_IVF\_report. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- NIH Research Panel. Report of the Human Embryo Research Panel. Available at: https://repository.library.georgetown.edu/bitstream/handle/10822/ 559352/human\_embryo\_vol\_1.pdf. Accessed May 23, 2019.

- Leary LE. Clinton Rules Out Federal Money for Research on Human Embryos Created for That Purpose. New York Times December 3. Available at: https://www.nytimes.com/1994/12/03/us/clinton-rules-federal-money-for-research-human-embryos-created-for-that-purpose.html. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- The Balanced Budget Downpayment Act, I, Pub L No 104-99; 128, 110 Stat.34 (1996). Available at https://www.congress.gov/104/plaws/ publ99/PLAW-104publ99.pdf. Last accessed December 20, 2019.
- **66.** National Bioethics Advisory Commission. Ethical issues in human stem cell research. Rockville, MD: NBAC; 1999..
- 109th Congress (2005-2006). H.R.810 Stem Cell Research Enhancement Act of 2005. Available at: https://www.congress.gov/bill/109th-congress/ house-bill/810. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Wadman M. High court ensures continued US funding of human embryonic-stem-cell research. Nature 1/7/13. Available at: http://www. nature.com/news/high-court-ensures-continued-us-funding-of-humanembryonic-stem-cell-research-1.12171. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Institute of Medicine. Oversight and Review of Clinical Gene Transfer Protocols: Assessing the Role of the Recombinant DNA Advisory Committee. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2014. https://doi.org/ 10.17226/18577.
- Collins FS. Statement on NIH funding of research using gene-editing technologies in human embryos. NIH; 2015. Available at: https://www.nih. gov/about-nih/who-we-are/nih-director/statements/statement-nihfunding-research-using-gene-editing-technologies-human-embryos. Last accessed December 20, 2019.
- National Institutes of Health. Statement on modernizing human gene therapy oversight. Available at: https://www.nih.gov/about-nih/who-we-are/ nih-director/statements/statement-modernizing-human-gene-therapyoversight. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- 72. California Institute for Regenerative Medicine. History. Available at: https:// www.cirm.ca.gov/about-cirm/history. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- National Academy of Sciences and National Academy of Medicine. Human genome editing: science, ethics, and governance. Available at: https://nam. edu/human-genome-editing-science-ethics-and-governance/. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Consolidated appropriations act of 2016, Public Law 114-114, adopted 12/18/15. Available at: https://www.congress.gov/114/bills/hr2029/BILLS-114hr2029enr.pdf. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- 75. STAT. STAT-Harvard poll: Americans say no to 'designer babies'. Available at: https://www.statnews.com/2016/02/11/stat-harvard-poll-gene-editing/. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Pew Research Center. Public views of gene editing for babies depend on how it would be used. Available at: http://www.pewresearch.org/ science/2018/07/26/public-views-of-gene-editing-for-babies-depend-onhow-it-would-be-used/. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Gaskell G, Bard I, Allansdottir A, da Cunha RV, Eduard P, Hampel J, et al. Public views on gene editing and its uses. Nat Biotechnol 2017;35:1021–3.
- AP-NORC. Human genetic engineering. Accessible at: http://apnorc.org/ projects/Pages/Human-Genetic-Engineering.aspx. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- 79. Vassena R, Heindryckx B, Peco R, Pennings G, Raya A, Sermon K, et al. Genome engineering through CRISPR/Cas9 technology in the human germline and pluripotent stem cells. Hum Reprod Update 2016;22:411–9.
- Liang P, Xu Y, Zhang X, Ding C, Huang R, Zhang Z, et al. CRISPR/Cas9mediated gene editing in human tripronuclear zygotes. Protein Cell 2015;6:363–72.
- Kang X, He W, Huang Y, Yu Q, Chen Y, Gao X, et al. Introducing precise genetic modifications into human 3PN embryos by CRISPR/Cas-mediated genome editing. J Assist Reprod Genet 2016;33:581–8.
- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998;282:1145–7, Erratum in: Science 1998;282:1827.
- Lanzendorf SE, Boyd CA, Wright DL, Muasher S, Oehninger S, Hodgen GD. Use of human gametes obtained from anonymous donors for the production of human embryonic stem cell lines. Fertil Steril 2001;76:132–7.

- Hewitt ZA, Amps KJ, Moore HD. Derivation of GMP raw materials for use in regenerative medicine: hESC-based therapies, progress toward clinical application. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2007:82448–52.
- de Wert G, Mummery C. Human embryonic stem cells: research, ethics and policy. Hum Reprod 2003;18:672–82.
- Cyranoski D. Japanese woman is first recipient of next-generation stem cells. Nature. Available at: https://www.nature.com/news/japanesewoman-is-first-recipient-of-next-generation-stem-cells-1.15915. Accessed October 3, 2019.
- Murry CE, Keller G. Differentiation of embryonic stem cells to clinically relevant populations: lessons from embryonic development. Cell 2008;132: 661–80.
- Tachibana M, Amato P, Sparman M, Gutierrez NM, Tippner-Hedges R, Ma H, et al. Human embryonic stem cells derived by somatic cell nuclear transfer. Cell 2013;153:1228–38.
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131:861–72.
- Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 2007;318:1917–20.
- Vassena R, Eguizabal C, Heindryckx B, Sermon K, Simon C, van Pelt AM, Veiga A, et al. ESHRE special interest group Stem Cells. Stem cells in reproductive medicine: ready for the patient? Hum Reprod 2015;30:2014–21.
- van Echten-Arends J, Mastenbroek S, Sikkema-Raddatz B, Korevaar JC, Heineman MJ, van der Veen F, et al. Chromosomal mosaicism in human preimplantation embryos: a systematic review. Hum Reprod Update 2011;17:620–7.
- Werner MD, Leondires MP, Schoolcraft WB, Miller BT, Copperman AB, Robins ED, et al. Clinically recognizable error rate after the transfer of comprehensive chromosomal screened euploid embryos is low. Fertil Steril 2014;102:1613–8.
- Gleicher N, Vidali A, Braverman J, Kushnir VA, Barad DH, Hudson C, et al. Accuracy of preimplantation genetic screening (PGS) is compromised by degree of mosaicism of human embryos. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2016; 14:54.
- 95. Mir P, Mateu E, Mercader A, Herrer R, Rodrigo L, Vera M, et al. Confirmation rates of array-CGH in day-3 embryo and blastocyst biopsies for preimplantation genetic screening. J Assist Reprod Genet 2016;33:59–66.
- 96. Capalbo A, Wright G, Elliott T, Ubaldi FM, Rienzi L, Nagy ZP. FISH reanalysis of inner cell mass and trophectoderm samples of previously array-CGH screened blastocysts shows high accuracy of diagnosis and no major diagnostic impact of mosaicism at the blastocyst stage. Hum Reprod 2013;28: 2298–307.
- 97. Maxwell SM, Colls P, Hodes-Wertz B, McCulloh DH, McCaffrey C, Wells D, et al. Why do euploid embryos miscarry? A case-control study comparing the rate of aneuploidy within presumed euploid embryos that resulted in miscarriage or live birth using next-generation sequencing. Fertil Steril 2016;106:1414–1419 .e5.
- Bazrgar M, Gourabi H, Valojerdi MR, Yazdi PE, Baharvand H. Self-correction of chromosomal abnormalities in human preimplantation embryos and embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 2013;22:2449–56.
- Sachdev NM, Maxwell SM, Besser AG, Grifo JA. Diagnosis and clinical management of embryonic mosaicism. Fertil Steril 2017;107:6–11.
- Wolf DP, Mitalipov N, Mitalipov S. Mitochondrial replacement therapy in reproductive medicine. Trends Mol Med 2015;21:68–76.
- **101.** Mitalipov S, Wolf DP. Clinical and ethical implications of mitochondrial gene transfer. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2014;25:5–7.
- 102. Hellebrekers DM, Wolfe R, Hendrickx AT, de Coo IF, de Die CE, Geraedts JP, et al. PGD and heteroplasmic mitochondrial DNA point mutations: a systematic review estimating the chance of healthy offspring. Hum Reprod Update 2012;18:341–9.
- Cohen J, Scott R, Alikani M, Schimmel T, Munné S, Levron J, et al. Ooplasmic transfer in mature human oocytes. Mol Hum Reprod 1998; 4:269–80.

- 104. Darbandi S, Darbandi M, Khorram Khorshid HR, Sadeghi MR, Agarwal A, Sengupta P, et al. Ooplasmic transfer in human oocytes: efficacy and concerns in assisted reproduction. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2017;15:77.
- 105. Dobler R, Dowling DK, Morrow EH, Reinhardt K. A systematic review and meta-analysis reveals pervasive effects of germline mitochondrial replacement on components of health. Hum Reprod Update 2018;24: 519–34.
- 106. Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Human somatic cell nuclear transfer (cloning). Fertil Steril 2004;82: S236–9.
- 107. Hendriks S, Dondorp W, de Wert G, Hamer G, Repping S, Dancet EA. Potential consequences of clinical application of artificial gametes: a systematic review of stakeholder views. Hum Reprod Update 2015;21: 297–309.
- Cibelli JB, Stice SL, Golueke PJ, Kane JJ, Jerry J, Blackwell C, et al. Cloned transgenic calves produced from nonquiescent fetal fibroblasts. Science 1998;280:1256–8.
- 109. Onishi A, Iwamoto M, Akita T, Mikawa S, Takeda K, Awata T, et al. Pig cloning by microinjection of fetal fibroblast nuclei. Science 2000;289: 1188–90.
- Polejaeva IA, Chen SH, Vaught TD, Page RL, Mullins J, Ball S, et al. Cloned pigs produced by nuclear transfer from adult somatic cells. Nature 2000; 407:86–90.
- Wakayama S, Kohda T, Obokata H, Tokoro M, Li C, Terashita Y, et al. Successful serial recloning in the mouse over multiple generations. Cell Stem Cell 2013;12:293–7.
- Wakayama T, Perry AC, Zuccotti M, Johnson KR, Yanagimachi R. Full-term development of mice from enucleated oocytes injected with cumulus cell nuclei. Nature 1998;394:369–74.
- Wilmut I, Schnieke AE, McWhir J, Kind AJ, Campbell KH. Viable offspring derived from fetal and adult mammalian cells. Nature 1997; 385:810–3.
- Chung YG, Eum JH, Lee JE, Shim SH, Sepilian V, Hong SW, et al. Human somatic cell nuclear transfer using adult cells. Cell Stem Cell 2014;14: 777–80.
- **115.** Smith GD, Monteiro da Rocha A. Advances in embryo culture systems. Semin Reprod Med 2012;30:214–21.
- 116. van Rumste MM, Evers JL, Farquhar CM. Intra-cytoplasmic sperm injection versus conventional techniques for oocyte insemination during in vitro fertilisation in patients with non-male subfertility. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2003:CD001301.
- 117. Teixeira DM, Barbosa MA, Ferriani RA, Navarro PA, Raine-Fenning N, Nastri CO, et al. Regular (ICSI) versus ultra-high magnification (IMSI) sperm selection for assisted reproduction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013: CD010167.

- McDowell S, Kroon B, Ford E, Hook Y, Glujovsky D, Yazdani A. Advanced sperm selection techniques for assisted reproduction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014:CD010461.
- 119. Benkhalifa M, Demirol A, Sari T, Balashova E, Tsouroupaki M, Giakoumakis Y, et al. Autologous embryo-cumulus cells co-culture and blastocyst transfer in repeated implantation failures: a collaborative prospective randomized study. Zygote 2012;20:173–80.
- 120. Huang Z, Li J, Wang L, Yan J, Shi Y, Li S. Brief co-incubation of sperm and oocytes for in vitro fertilization techniques. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013:CD009391.
- 121. Carney SK, Das S, Blake D, Farquhar C, Seif MM, Nelson L. Assisted hatching on assisted conception (in vitro fertilisation (IVF) and intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI). Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012: CD001894.
- 122. Mantikou E, Youssef MA, van Wely M, van der Veen F, Al-Inany HG, Repping S, et al. Embryo culture media and IVF/ICSI success rates: a systematic review. Hum Reprod Update 2013;19:210–20.
- 123. Youssef MM, Mantikou E, van Wely M, Van der Veen F, Al-Inany HG, Repping S, et al. Culture media for human pre-implantation embryos in assisted reproductive technology cycles. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015; 11:CD007876.
- 124. Sfontouris IA, Martins WP, Nastri CO, Viana IG, Navarro PA, Raine-Fenning N, et al. Blastocyst culture using single versus sequential media in clinical IVF: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Assist Reprod Genet 2016;33: 1261–72.
- 125. Bontekoe S, Mantikou E, van Wely M, Seshadri S, Repping S, Mastenbroek S. Low oxygen concentrations for embryo culture in assisted reproductive technologies. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012: CD008950.
- 126. Twisk M, Mastenbroek S, van Wely M, Heineman MJ, Van der Veen F, Repping S. Preimplantation genetic screening for abnormal number of chromosomes (aneuploidies) in in vitro fertilisation or intracytoplasmic sperm injection. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006: CD005291.
- 127. Armstrong S, Arroll N, Cree LM, Jordan V, Farquhar C. Time-lapse systems for embryo incubation and assessment in assisted reproduction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015:CD011320.
- 128. Siristatidis CS, Sertedaki E, Vaidakis D, Varounis C, Trivella M. Metabolomics for improving pregnancy outcomes in women undergoing assisted reproductive technologies. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018: CD011872.
- 129. Glujovsky D, Riestra B, Sueldo C, Fiszbajn G, Repping S, Nodar F, et al. Vitrification versus slow freezing for women undergoing oocyte cryopreservation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014:CD010047.

#### APPENDIX A

#### HISTORICAL OVERVIEW: FEDERAL REGULATION OF EMBRYO RESEARCH IN THE UNITED STATES

In the years preceding the birth of the first IVF baby in 1978, the federal government became involved in a dialogue regarding the use of human embryos for research purposes. The first grant application for embryo research was submitted by Dr. Pierre Soupart to the NIH in 1973 and initially approved in 1975. Soupart was a professor in the department of obstetrics and gynecology and director of the center for Fertility and Reproductive Research at Vanderbilt University (60). The research involved obtaining oocytes from ovaries removed during routine gynecologic surgery and fertilizing them with donor sperm. Soupart planned on examining the in vitro growth of embryos for up to 6 days to determine if there were any morphologic or chromosomal abnormalities that could be discerned as a result of the process of fertilization outside of the body. His grant was initially approved by the NIH on scientific grounds in 1975. However, at the time of Soupart's grant application, the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research was undergoing deliberations regarding just this type of research. This Commission was the precursor of the Ethics Advisory Board, and Soupart's proposal was the first to go before this Board in 1978. Funding for Soupart's research was ultimately declined on ethical grounds (61).

The Ethics Advisory Board (EAB) went on to produce a well-researched and thoughtfully considered document that summarized not only the world knowledge on in vitro fertilization to date, but also the various scientific and ethical arguments for and against the study of in vitro embryos. The Board concluded that "research involving in vitro fertilization is acceptable from an ethical standpoint." It did not specifically address embryo research, as it considered this research as inseparable from studies aiming to understand in vitro fertilization, embryo development and the newfound ability to achieve a live birth following IVF (62). The EAB faced significant political and public opposition. It met only twice, at which point it was defunded. Its charter expired in 1980, effectively imposing a moratorium on federal funding of embryo research which would last for twelve years.

The NIH established the Human Embryo Research Panel in 1994 to assist it in developing guidelines for funding preimplantation human embryo research (63). This panel concluded that creating embryos was justified when "the research by its very nature cannot otherwise be validly conducted" or when it is necessary for a study that is "potentially of outstanding scientific and therapeutic value." Requirements for research by this panel were founded on the assumption that the data could not be adequately obtained with less controversial methods. In addition, the panel's report called for the use of human embryos at the earliest stages and in the smallest numbers that would support the needs of the research. Except in very limited circumstances, the panel called for use of only those embryos that, although originally produced in the course of a reproductive effort, would ultimately have been discarded (63). Soon after this report was published, President Bill Clinton issued a statement disallowing the use of Federal funds for the formation of human embryos for research purposes, stating that "the subject raises profound ethical and moral questions as well as issues concerning the appropriate allocation of federal funds." This led to suspension of many of the approved experiments included in the five grants on human IVF research funded by NICHD earlier that year. Nevertheless, President Clinton's statement did support the Panel's recommendation to pursue research on existing embryos that remained in excess of the needs of couples pursuing IVF (64).

The NIH Human Embryo Research Panel's directives were short lived, as in 1995 Congress passed the Dickey-Wicker Amendment. This amendment prohibited the use of U.S. Department of Health and Human Services funds for "creation of a human embryo(s) for research purposes or research in which a human embryo(s) are destroyed, discarded, or knowingly subjected to risk of injury or death for research purposes." It was signed into law in 1996 (65). While not restricting private funds for embryo research, this amendment significantly curtailed embryo research due to the lack of access to Federal funding sources. In 1999, the National Bioethics Advisory Commission was charged with identifying "broad principles to govern the ethical conduct of research." It recommended federal support for stem cell research using embryos remaining after infertility treatment but opposing the formation of embryos specifically for research (66).

In 2000, the NIH interpreted the Dickey-Wicker Amendment in releasing guidelines for research on human embryonic stem cells (hESC), allowing for funding of selective research on hESC. It concluded that hESC must be derived with private funds and utilize cryopreserved embryos that were initially produced for the treatment of infertility. The embryos must be in excess of the reproductive desires of the donors and must be obtained with the consent of the donor. In effect, these new NIH guidelines partially reversed the Dickey-Wicker Amendment. However, this reversal was short-lived when President George W. Bush restricted federal funding to include only stem cell lines in existence on August 9, 2001 and derived from excess embryos produced solely for reproductive purposes and provided with informed consent of the donors. In keeping with past precedent, this restriction did not prohibit private and state funding of stem cell research.

In subsequent years, several attempts were made to expand federal funding for stem cell research. In 2005, the Stem Cell Research Enhancement Act (67) passed the House and Senate but was vetoed by President Bush. This Act would have expanded federal funding for stem cell research to include stem cells derived from embryos produced for, but subsequently not used in, the clinical in vitro fertilization process. Another attempt to pass this act (S.5) failed in 2007.

In 2009, then President Barak Obama cited the importance of research involving hESC as having the potential to lead to a better understanding and treatment of many disabling diseases and conditions. He issued Executive Order 13505 which revoked President Bush's restrictions on research which was limited only to the study of stem cell lines already in existence in 2001. It stated that "The purpose of this order is to remove these limitations on scientific inquiry, to expand NIH support for the exploration of human stem cell research, and in so doing to enhance the contribution of America's scientists to important new discoveries and new therapies for the benefit of humankind" (9).

In response to Obama's more permissive approach to stem cell research, Sherley and Deisler brought a federal lawsuit against Kathleen Sebelius in her role as secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services. These two Ph.D.s, whose research involved the study of adult stem cells, sought to overturn the guidelines for public funding of human embryonic stem cell research that the NIH issued in response to Obama's Executive Order. Judge Royce C. Lamberth granted an injunction against federally funded embryonic stem cell research on the grounds that the guidelines for hESC research "clearly violate" the Dickey-Wicker Amendment. This went to appeal and judges in the U.S. District Court of D.C. found in favor of the defendant. The injunction was lifted in 2011. All subsequent appeals failed, culminating in the U.S. Supreme Court's refusal to hear this case in 2013 (68).

In April of 2016, amendments to the NIH Guidelines went into effect. Under the revised guidelines, which reflected many of the recommendations of an earlier National Academies study (69), individual human gene-transfer trials would be limited to cases in which NIH concurs with a request from an oversight body (such as an IRB) that has determined that a protocol would significantly benefit from recombinant DNA advisory committee review. However, in 2015 the NIH director issued a statement that the "NIH will not fund any use of gene editing technologies in human embryos" (10, 70, 71).

Currently, funding for embryo research is occurring at the state level to a limited degree. California, for example, has been funding embryo research and embryonic stem cell research since 2004 using funds from a state bond issued during the years when federal funding was limited (72). This funding measure will be up for renewal during the 2020 election. Connecticut, Maryland, New Jersey, and New York also produced funds for research that could not be federally funded (73).

In a 2017 report, the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine stated that "Heritable germline genome-editing trials must be approached with caution, but caution does not mean they must be prohibited. If the technical challenges are overcome and potential benefits are reasonable in light of the risks, clinical trials could be initiated, limited to only the most compelling circumstances and subject to a comprehensive oversight framework that would protect the research subjects and their descendants; and have sufficient safeguards in place to protect against inappropriate expansion to uses that are less compelling or less well understood." They recommend that clinical trials using heritable genome editing should be permitted only within a robust and effective regulatory framework that encompasses: 1) the absence of reasonable alternatives 2) restriction to preventing a serious disease or condition 3) restriction to editing genes that have been convincingly demonstrated to cause or strongly predispose to that disease or condition 4) restriction to converting such genes to versions that are prevalent in the population and are known to be associated with ordinary

health with little or no evidence of adverse effects 5) the availability of credible preclinical and/or clinical data on risks and potential health benefits of the procedures (73).

At the present time, these recommendations cannot be acted upon at the Federal level due to restrictions put in place by the attachment of the Dickey-Wicker amendment to the appropriations bills of the Department of Health and Human Services. The U.S. FDA further clarified the restrictions with an ongoing prohibition for using federal funds for "research in which a human embryo is intentionally created or modified to include a heritable genetic mutation" (74). Congress responded by imposing restrictions on the FDA, prohibiting it from reviewing gene editing applications. This amendment has been attached to the annual appropriations bills for the Departments of Health and Human Services, Labor, and Education from 1996 and continues to be attached annually at the time of the publication of this report (74).

#### **APPENDIX B**

## PUBLIC PERCEPTIONS TOWARDS EMBRYO RESEARCH

The magnitude of the public's role in guiding policy recommendations surrounding human embryo research is often debated. Attempts to discern the opinions and sentiments of the relevant public may occur via a robust dialogue, public forums and polling. A number of polls have been conducted which aim to understand the public's views towards emerging genetic technologies, as described below

STAT and the Harvard T.H. Chan School of public health conducted a poll of 1,000 randomly selected adults in 2016. It suggested that Americans have mixed views regarding embryo research. As an example, U.S. adults are almost evenly split when responding to the question of whether the federal government should fund scientific research on "changing the genes of unborn babies to reduce their risk of developing" certain serious diseases such as Huntington's disease, cystic fibrosis, or some types of muscular dystrophy" (75).

When further probed into whether such changes in the genes of unborn babies should be legal, 65% responded that they should not be legal, 26% felt that they should be legal and 9% state that they do not know. When looking at the subset of patients that claim to have some knowledge of this idea, 41% said it should be legal to change the genes of unborn babies to prevent serious diseases, and 54% of this subpopulation supported the federal funding of research in this area. In Americans who state that they have not heard or read much about this issue, only 39% were supportive of funding this type of research. It appears that as Americans have more exposure to embryo research technologies and the types of medical applications that may become available, they become more comfortable with the research and the clinical applications of these technologies as well as with government funding. Interestingly, the vast majority of Americans polled in the STAT/Harvard survey believe that decisions regarding whether or not to allow changing the genes of unborn babies should be made by scientists, physicians and other technological experts. Less than 10% felt that these decisions should arise from government officials and policy makers.

In 2018, the Pew research Center conducted a similar poll of 2,537 U.S. adults (76). It asked a sample of the U.S. public to weigh in on the acceptability of gene editing technologies that are not currently in use. A majority of those surveyed, 72%, believe that gene editing would be an appropriate use of medical technology to treat a serious disease/condition that the baby would have at birth, and 60% felt gene editing would be appropriate to reduce the risk of a serious disease that could occur over a baby's lifetime. In light of the announcement of the first successful use of gene editing in human embryos to eliminate an inherited condition, the Pew poll asked Americans to consider the possibility that gene editing would involve testing on human embryos. A majority of those polled, 65%, said that this would be taking medical technology too far. It is interesting to note that while the majority favored gene editing, a minority supported the development of this technology via testing on human embryos, which is the only viable way to develop and research the technology. When asked about whether they would want to use gene editing to avoid serious diseases in their own children, 48% say yes. Interestingly, the percentage was lower (39%) among parents with children under age 18.

In the 2018 Pew survey, 87% of respondents who identified as high in religious commitment stated that if the development of gene editing would entail testing on human embryos, this would be taking the medical technology too far, versus 55% of those who identified as low in religious commitment. 79% of atheists responded that development of gene editing techniques that required testing on human embryos would be an appropriate use of medical technology. A majority of adults (73%) state that they believe that gene editing technologies would be used before the health effects are fully understood, and 70% worry that inequality would be prone to increase due to concerns that this technology would only be available to the wealthy.

The Pew survey asked respondents whether the idea of editing genes to give healthy babies a much-reduced risk of serious diseases and conditions is in keeping with other ways that humans have always tried to better themselves or whether "this idea is meddling with nature and crosses a line we should not cross." Americans' judgments on this question are closely divided, with 51% saying this idea is no different than other ways humans try to better themselves and 46% saying this idea crosses a line (76).

When looking at those with high science knowledge, the 2018 PEW survey found that 86% of U.S. adults in this group state that it is appropriate to use gene editing techniques to change a baby's genetic characteristics to treat a serious disease/condition that the baby would have at birth. This is in contrast with 58% of those surveyed who had low science knowledge (76).

Yet another survey, conducted by Hart Research Associates from May 14 to 17, 2015, queried a national sample of 1,019 adults regarding their feelings towards DNA modification as part of the Synthetic Biology Project at the Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars (WWCfS). In this poll, there was not a clear consensus regarding whether heritable DNA modification is a positive or negative. When pressed to give an opinion, 62% of adults have mixed feelings about this technology. The younger respondents felt more positive about heritable DNA modification. This survey also found that 45% of respondents favor a moratorium on the use of this technology in humans until ethical guidelines and safety controls are in place, and 43% of adults are undecided (54).

The most recent Gallup poll showed that the percentage of Americans that "personally believe that medical research using stem cells obtained from human embryos is morally acceptable" is generally trending upwards, from a low of 52% in 2002 when Gallup first conducted this poll, to 66% in 2018 (55). In May of 2017, a Gallup poll was conducted to survey U.S. adults regarding stem cell research. Of those surveyed, 61% felt the research to be morally acceptable, 33% felt it to be morally wrong, 3% stated it depended on the situation and 3% had no opinion. Regarding easing restrictions on federal funding of stem cell research, 14% preferred no restrictions, 38% preferred easing current restrictions, 22% favored keeping current restrictions, 19% preferred not to fund and only 7% had no opinion.

Prior Gallup polls asked Americans about their feelings towards embryos. 36% felt that the embryo is a human life that should be given the same protection as all other human lives, and 60% felt that the embryo has the potential for life, but is not the same as life, because it cannot develop on its own (55). That same year, 55% of respondents felt that the government should fund stem cell research on supernumerary embryos resulting from fertility treatment and 46% felt that the government should fund embryos produced expressly for stem cell research. A recent survey of over 11,000 individuals in eleven countries, including the United States, found that 60% of respondents favored intervention for prenatal therapy. Similar to previous studies, the authors found that there was much broader support for interventions that aimed to prevent disease in newborns than for those that led to increased intelligence or other changes that were perceived as non-medical enhancements (77).

In late 2018, AP-NORC conducted a an online and telephone poll of 1,067 adults about their attitudes towards the technology that could be used to edit the genes of human embryos (78). The results were similar to previous studies, with 71% of respondents favoring using technology to edit the genes of embryos to prevent an incurable or fatal disease that a child would inherit. Additionally, 67% of respondents would favor using this technology to reduce the risk of diseases such as cancer that may develop later in life, and 65% favor using this technology to prevent a non-fatal condition such as blindness. When asked about the use of taxpayer money to finance testing on human embryos to develop these gene editing technologies, 48% of those polled were opposed. This number depended upon political affiliation, with 61% of Republicans versus 3% of Democrats opposing the use of taxpayer money to finance the testing. Of those polled, 88% thought it would be somewhat or very likely that gene editing would be used for unethical reasons, and 86% thought it would be somewhat or very likely that gene editing would have unintended effects on human evaluation. Conversely, 87% felt that gene editing would be somewhat or very likely

to lead to other medical advances, and 63% thought it very or somewhat likely that gene editing would be adequately tested to ensure its safety before it was used.

While several polls have attempted to gauge the opinion of the population of the United States towards embryo research, they have been limited by the number of adults surveyed and the breadth of the questions answered. One key finding is the impact that lack of knowledge regarding these technologies has on perceptions regarding their moral acceptability. This speaks to the importance of an educated public in making decisions that will profoundly affect both research and clinical applications of this rapidly evolving field.

# **APPENDIX C**

#### Current research on gene editing in human embryos

- Overview of Crispr/Cas9 (79)
  - Method of utilizing endonucleases to generate targeted double stranded DNA breaks, resulting in activation and recruitment of cellular enzymatic DNA repair machinery (via non-homologous end joining and/or homologous recombination)
  - $\circ$  Options:
    - Embryo editing: embryos injected with editing system, then screened to select embryos with correct edit/no off-target effects (80, 81)
    - Editing of male and female germ cells (17)
    - Editing of pluripotent stem cells (this work is in mice; not yet performed in human stem cells)
  - $\,\circ\,$  Possible uses:
    - Germline modification for genetic disease correction
    - Germline selection of nonmedical conditions/ traits (obviously more controversial)
    - Research to understand fundamental questions of developmental biology
  - Major concerns include:
    - off-target effects (unspecific activity at other genomic locations)
    - low efficiency (generation of mosaic embryos and/or inaccurate DNA repair)
      - mosaicism in particular would make PGD difficult in edited embryos
    - germ line gene modification is a major ethical concern (70)
      - made "without the consent of future generations"
      - no long-term follow-up data available
      - will result in modification of the genome
      - $\circ~$  research involves embryos
- Selected studies of interest:
  - Liang et al. (80) reported the first use of CRISPR/Cas9mediated gene editing in human cells in 2015 (3PN zygotes, human beta globin protein (HBB; mutations in HBB responsible for beta thalassemia)
    - Major concerns: Low efficiency of homologous recombination-directed repair; edited embryos were mosaic; off-target effects were observed

- Kang et al. (81), in the second reported use of CRISPR/ Cas9 for embryo editing, used CRISPR/Cas9 to mutate CCR5 (gene responsible for HIV resistance in some individuals) in 3PN zygotes
  - Again, low efficiency and off-target effects
- Ma et al (17) (U.S.-based team) performed CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing studies without donated embryos; rather, donated oocytes were used along with sperm from a male donor with MYBPC3 mutation (which results in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy)
  - Major concerns: high CRISPR-Cas9 based repair efficiency and homology-directed repair efficiency (via activation of endogenous DNA repair response) without mosaicism or off target effects, but insertions/deletions still apparent at DNA break sites

#### Use of stem cells derived from human embryos

- Overview:
  - Human embryonic stem cells (hESC): derived from early embryos (typically from ICM of blast-stage); first established in culture in 1998 (82)
    - Can differentiate into somatic tissues but not extraembryonic tissues (i.e. placenta, membranes), pluripotent, not totipotent
    - Procurement typically occurs in the context of infertility treatment (discarded or spare IVF embryos), though IVF embryos have been specifically produced for stem cell isolation (83)
    - Efficiency of derivation is improving (from <5% of donated embryos will result in hESC line in a 2007 study, to up to 50%) (84, 85)
- Ethical considerations (85)
  - "Personhood:" embryo as a "person" versus "nonperson" and moderate views (i.e. embryo has "real but low" moral value"
  - $\,\circ\,$  Production of embryos for use solely for research
  - $\,\circ\,$  Use of an euploid embryos for derivation of hESC lines
  - Restrictive guidelines may limit development of potentially beneficial therapies
  - "Slippery slope" argument: will lead to more "undesirable" practices
  - Principal of "subsidiarity": do alternatives exist?
- Potential uses: transplant medicine, toxicology, research on pregnancy loss/embryonic aging/infertility
  - Progress in particular has been in treatment of macular degeneration (86)
- Regulatory considerations: differ between countries
- Selected studies of interest
  - Much research has focused on using ESCs to understand pluripotency (87)
  - Major milestone was the derivation of stem cells via somatic cell nuclear transfer (nucleus from adult donor cell into human oocyte with nucleus removed), achieved in 2013 (88)
  - Additional major milestone: the discovery of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC)-returning adult cells to embryonic-like state, offering potential limitless supply

of patient-matched pluripotent cells without ethical dilemmas

- In mice in 2006 (25)
- In human cells in 2007 (89, 90)
- Scope of use in reproductive medicine research and limitations reviewed by ESHRE working group in 2015 (91)

# Research on aneuploidy and mosaicism

- Prevalence: may be common
  - In a systematic review of 815 embryos: 73% mosaic (59% diploid-aneuploid mosaic and 14% aneuploid mosaic) (92)
- Challenges:
  - Mosaicism plays a prominent role in misdiagnosis of CCS-screened euploid embryos (though clinically recognizable error rate <1%) (93)</li>
  - $\circ$  Literature reflects concern/controversy about PGS accuracy
    - Gleicher et al. (94)
      - Re-biopsy of 11 an euploid embryos; only 2/11 were identically assessed
      - 5/8 transfers of an euploid embryos resulted in chromosomally normal pregnancies
      - Descriptive study, not powered to achieve statistical significance
    - Mir et al (95)
      - Blinded comparison of blastomere and trophoectoderm biopsy using array-CGH in aneuploid embryos: high concordance with whole blastocyst results
    - Capalbo et al. (96): high accuracy of diagnosis with blastocyst stage PGS coupled with 24chromosome molecular karyotyping analysis
  - Interpretation of mosaic results is difficult b/c transfer of mosaic embryos has resulted in live births (94, 97, 98)
    - Potential mechanisms (98)
      - Primary misdiagnosis
      - Allocation of an euploidy in trophectoderm
      - Cell growth advantage of diploid cells
      - Lagging of aneuploid cell division
      - Extrusion or duplication of aneuploid chromosomes
      - Abundance of DNA repair gene products
- Clinical management strategies (99)
  - $\circ~$  Preferentially transfer euploid embryos
  - Genetic counseling including discussion of risk of undetected aneuploidies, IUFD, uniparental disomy, affected child
  - Preferentially transfer certain mosaics over others (2, 7, 13–16, 18, 21 may pose most risk of affected child)
  - $\,\circ\,$  Encourage another cycle before transferring mosaics

Latest articles on mitochondrial transfer and somatic cell nuclear transfer (if anything recent)

- Mitochondrial transfer (100, 101)

   Uses:
  - alternative to germline gene therapy for patients at risk of transmitting mtDNA-based disorders

- important because utility of PGD in patients with mitochondrial disorders is limited (for systematic review see Hellebrekers et al (102)
- potential therapy for infertility associated with increased maternal age
- One study describes co-injection of donor cytoplasm with sperm/ICSI for patients with repeated IVF failures (1999) (103)
  - several pregnancies established before FDA established jurisdiction and required that applications for patient treatment be established as part of clinical trials
  - review of available reports and concerns for ooplasmic transfer techniques by Darbandi et al. (104)
- Ethical concerns (100, 101)
  - Permanent germline changes
    - Little data available but systematic review/ meta-analysis formally assessing risks of mitochondrial replacement on offspring in UK (105) suggests negative effects in 1 out of every 130 offspring
  - Children born after mtDNA transfer have genetic connection to three parents (though mtDNA component is small)
  - May be unethical to deny germline therapies to patients with debilitating/life threatening conditions
- Somatic cell nuclear transfer (also summarized in 2016 ASRM ethics committee opinion) (106)
  - Derivation of stem cells via transfer of nucleus from adult donor cell into human oocyte with nucleus removed
    - Live births already achieved in animals using artificial gametes
    - Hendriks et al.: only systematic review of SCNT and other technologies for development of artificial gametes available (no high quality meta analyses or RCTs), reviews 70 studies involving development of artificial gametes (107)
  - Multiple reports of cloning success in animal species (108–113) but few reports of success with human nuclear transfer ESCs:
    - Pioneering work developing hESCs done by Shoukhrat Mitalipov at OHSU in 2013 (89) using fetal dermal fibroblasts as nuclear donors
    - Subsequently, generation of SCNT-hESCs using dermal fibroblasts from 30- and 75 year -old males (114)

Research on embryo growth and development in the lab (including studies of the optimal conditions for maturing embryos)

- Major considerations (systematic review) (115)
  - $\circ$  Method of fertilization
    - ICSI versus IVF:
      - 2003 Cochrane review demonstrated no difference in pregnancy rates when ICSI was

used for non-male subfertility (only one study included) (116)

- 2013 Cochrane review demonstrated no evidence that IMSI (ultra-high magnification sperm selection) improves CPR over ICSI (possibly ineffective intervention, more evidence needed) (117)
- Advanced sperm selection: 2014 Cochrane review found insufficient evidence to recommend HA binding over conventional sperm selection (118)

#### Culture environment

- Coculture: Prospective randomized study with or without cumulus cell coculture in women with RIF demonstrated improved implantation (119)
- Coincubation: 2013 Cochrane review showed that brief coincubation of sperm/oocytes may improve CPR/OPR (promising intervention; more evidence needed) (120)
- Assisted hatching: a 2012 Cochrane review, statistically significant difference in CPR but no evidence of significant difference in LBR following AH; significant increase in MPR (promising intervention; more evidence needed) (121)
- Media:
  - Systematic review of 22 RCTs of effects of culture media on IVF/ICSI success; pooling data did not reveal superior culture medium (122)
  - 2015 Cochrane review also found insufficient evidence to support or refute the use of any specific culture medium (123)
  - 2016 meta-analysis and systematic review of 20 RCTs also found insufficient evidence to

recommend either sequential or single step media (124)

- Temperature, culture, and static versus dynamic environment
  - Oxygen concentrations: 2012 Cochrane review showed increased LBR associated with embryo culture using low oxygen concentrations (5%) compared with atmospheric (20%) (effective intervention) (125)
  - Small-volume, ART specific incubators (115)
  - Reduction of embryo manipulation (115)
  - Dynamic embryo culture system (115)
- Analytical techniques
  - PGS with FISH: 2006 Cochrane review showed LBR lower following IVF/ICSI with PGS using FISH compared with no PGS (ineffective intervention) (126)
  - Time lapse systems: 2015 Cochrane review found insufficient evidence to support time lapse systems over conventional incubation with respect to LBR/miscarriage/stillbirth/CPR (no conclusion possible due to lack of evidence) (127)
  - Metabolomic assessment of embryos: 2018 Cochrane review found no evidence to show that metabolomic assessment of embryos before implantation has any meaningful effect on rates LBR/OPR (128)
- o Freezing
  - 2014 Cochrane review: vitrification increases CPR compared to slow freeze (promising intervention; more evidence needed) (129)